#### **Distribution** agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Sumit Chandra Mishra

 $\frac{\text{May 26, 2020}}{\text{Date}}$ 

#### Local-global principles for norm one tori and multinorm tori over semi-global fields

By

Sumit Chandra Mishra

Doctor of Philosophy

Mathematics

Suresh Venapally Advisor

Raman Parimala Committee Member

David Zureick-Brown Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco Dean, Laney Graduate School

Date

#### Local-global principles for norm one tori and multinorm tori over semi-global fields

By

Sumit Chandra Mishra

BS-MS in Math,

Indian Institute of Science Education and Research(IISER) Mohali,

India, 2015

Advisor: Suresh Venapally, Ph.D.

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

2020

#### Abstract

#### Local-global principles for norm one tori and multinorm tori over semi-global fields

#### By

#### Sumit Chandra Mishra

Let K be a complete discretely valued field with the residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K and  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F such that the reduced special fibre X is a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Suppose that the graph associated to  $\mathscr{X}$  is a tree (e.g. F = K(t)). Let L/F be a Galois extension of degree n such that n is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Suppose that  $\kappa$  is an algebraically closed field or a finite field containing a primitive  $n^{\rm th}$  root of unity. Then we show that the local-global principle holds for the norm one torus associated to the extension L/F with respect to discrete valuations on F, i.e., an element in  $F^{\times}$  is a norm from the extension L/Fif and only if it is a norm from the extensions  $L \otimes_F F_{\nu}/F_{\nu}$  for all discrete valuations  $\nu$  of F. We also prove that such a local-global principle holds for multinorm tori over F associated to two cyclic extensions each of degree p for a prime p if the residue field  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed or a finite field. We prove that for finitely many quadratic cyclic extensions, the local-global principle holds for the associated multinorm tori if the residue field  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed, char( $\kappa$ )  $\neq 2$  and the graph associated to a regular proper model  $\mathscr{X}$  is a tree.

#### Local-global principles for norm one tori and multinorm tori over semi-global fields

By

Sumit Chandra Mishra

BS-MS in Math,

Indian Institute of Science Education and Research(IISER) Mohali,

India, 2015

Advisor: Suresh Venapally, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

2020

#### Acknowledgements

I am very thankful to my advisor Prof. Suresh for all the help and guidance and for being so patient with me. I am equally thankful to Prof. Parimala for all her support and guidance. I thank my academic siblings Nivedita, Zhengyao, Bastian and Reed- I have learned so much from you all.

I would like to thank all the Professors here at Emory for teachnig me interesting mathematics - Prof. Suresh, Prof. Parimala, Prof. Yang, Prof. Zureick-Brown and Prof. Duncan. I specially thank Prof. Zureick-Brown for always being ready to help with any algebraic geometry questions and for being very encouraging. I thank Dr. Ettinger and Dr. La Fleur for teaching me how to teach. I thank Terry for always being so helpful and welcoming. I also thank Kristen, Angela, Edgar, Tim, Kye and all other staff at the department. I thank the Emory University and the Laney Graduate School for giving me the opportunity and scholarship to pursue graduate school here and providing a great atmosphere.

I thank my teachers and friends at IISER Mohali, specially Prof. Kulshrestha for being a kind mentor to me. I also thank Prof. Paranjape, Prof. Passi, Prof. Khanduja, Prof. Singh, Prof. Kumar, Prof. Srinivasan, Prof. Gangopadhyay, Prof. Aribam, Prof. Khurana, Prof. Sahu, Prof. Pandey, Prof. Maharana and Prof. Vasudev for teaching me interseting mathematics. I also thank my summer mentors- Prof. Laishram at ISI, Delhi and Prof. Basu at TIFR, Mumbai.

I thank my teachers and friends at Kendriya Vidyalaya, Katihar. I specially thank my math teacher Mr. Bhagat for being very encouraging to me. I also thank Prof. Ojha for being very encouraging to me.

This thesis is about local-global principles of algebraic groups over semiglobal fields. This work draws heavily from the works of Prof. Colliot-Thélène, Prof. Sansuc, Prof. Harbater, Prof. Hartmann, Prof. Krashen, Prof. Parimala, Prof. Preeti and Prof. Suresh. I am very thankful to all of them. I also thank Prof. Bayer-Fluckiger, Prof. Colliot-Thélène and Prof. Krashen for being very encouraging to me. I thank Saurabh for many interesting discussions we had about mathematics and other things.

I am very thankful to my friends in the department for making this a fun journey - Lea, Jackson, Vicman, Ariel, Alessandro, Robert, Brad, Mani, Vanshaj, Sofia, Tomer, Chris, Jack, Zelalem, Samy and many others.

I thank Bobbi, Nupur, Mimi, Lynn, Don, Sarah and all my friends from the meditation group. It has been very wonderful experience being part of this group. I thank you all.

I am very thankful to my friends Khsitij, Utpal and Aaditya for always being there for me.

Finally, I thank Maa, Papa, Subhash bhaiya, Bicky and my whole extended family for their unconditional love and support.

### Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1	
2	Pre	requisites	7	
	2.1	Linear algebraic groups	7	
	2.2	Galois cohomology and torsors	11	
		2.2.1 Profinite Cohomology	12	
		2.2.2 The Long exact sequence associated to a short exact sequence of $\Gamma$ -groups	13	
	2.3	Local-global principles for linear algebraic groups	16	
	2.4	R-equivalence and flasque tori	16	
3	Sen	ni-global fields and Patching	21	
	3.1	Overfields of a semi-global field	22	
	3.2	Tate-Shafarevich groups	22	
	3.3	The associated graph	23	
4	Loc	Local-global principle for norm one tori over semi-global		
	field	ls	<b>27</b>	
	4.1	Norm one elements - complete discretely valued fields	27	
	4.2	Two dimensional complete fields	29	
		4.2.1 Structure of extensions of two dimensional complete		
		fields	30	
		4.2.2 Norms over two dimensional complete fields	33	
	4.3	$\coprod \operatorname{vs} \amalg_X \ldots \ldots$	35	
	4.4	Local-Global Principle	37	
5	Local-global principle for multinorm tori over semi-global			
	field		41	
	5.1	$\coprod \mathrm{vs} \coprod_X \ldots \ldots$	42	
	5.2	Local-Global Principle	44	
		5.2.1 Multinorm tori associated to two degree $p$ cyclic		
		extensions	44	
		5.2.2 More general multinorm tori	48	

6 Examples of failure of local-global principle for norm one tori and multinorm tori over semi-global fields 58

# Chapter 1 Introduction

Let F be a field and  $\Omega_F$  be the set of all discrete valuations on F. For  $\nu \in \Omega_F$ , let  $F_{\nu}$  denote the completion of F at  $\nu$ . Let G be a linear algebraic group over F. One says that the *local-global principle* holds for G if for any G-torsor X, X has a rational point over F if and only if it has a rational point over  $F_{\nu}$  for all  $\nu \in \Omega_F$ . If F is a number field, we also consider the completions at archimedean places while discussing local-global principles for algebraic groups. If F is a number field, then it is known that the local-global principle holds for various classes of linear algebraic groups ([PRR93, Chapter 6]), including semisimple simply connected groups. In particular, it is well-known that if  $T_{L/F}$  is the norm one torus associated to a cyclic extension L/F, then the local-global principle holds for  $T_{L/F}$ , i.e., an element  $\lambda \in F^{\times}$  is a norm from the extension L/F for all  $\nu \in \Omega_F$  ([CF67, Chapter 11]). However, very little is known for general fields.

Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Such a field F is called semi-global field. Let G be a linear algebraic group over F. Harbater, Hartmann and Krashen ([HHK15a]) developed patching techniques to study G-torsors over F and proved that if G is connected and F-rational, then a G-torsor over F has a rational point over F if and only if it has a rational point over certain overfields of F which are defined using patching (see Section 3.1). As a consequence of this result, Colliot-Thélène, Parimala and Suresh ([CTPS08, Theorem 4.3.]) showed that if G is reductive, F-rational and defined over the ring of integers of K, then the local-global principle holds for G. Similar local-global principles are proved for various linear algebraic groups G over F if the residue field of K is either finite or algebraically closed field; e.g. see [CTPS08], [CTPS16], [Hu12], [Pre13], and [PPS18]. The first example of a linear algebraic group G over F where such a local-global principle fails was given by Colliot-Thélène, Parimala and Suresh ([CTPS16, Section 3.1. & Proposition 5.9.]). In their example, the residue field of K is the field of complex numbers, G is the norm one torus of a Galois extension L/F with Galois group  $\mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z} \times \mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z}$  and the field F has a regular proper model with the associated graph not a tree. Suppose that F has a regular proper model with the associated graph a tree. If L/F is a Galois extension with Galois group  $\mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z} \times \mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z}$  and  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed, then they also proved that the local-global principle holds for the norm one torus  $T_{L/F}$  ([CTPS16, Section 3.1. & Corollary 6.2.]).

The main aim of this thesis is to prove the following theorem (see Corollary 4.4.4):

**Theorem 1.0.1.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F with reduced special fibre X a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Let L/F be a Galois extension over F of degree n with Galois group G. Suppose that the graph associated to  $\mathscr{X}$  is a tree and  $\kappa$  is one of the following:

- $\kappa$  is an algebraically closed field of characteristic coprime to n, or
- $\kappa$  is a finite field of characteristic coprime to n and contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity.

Then the local-global principle holds for the norm one torus  $T_{L/F}$ , i.e., an element  $\lambda \in F$  is a norm from the extension L/F if and only if  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extensions  $L \otimes_F F_{\nu}/F_{\nu}$  for all  $\nu \in \Omega_F$ .

For a finite separable extension L/F, let  $T_{L/F}$  denote the norm one torus associated to L/F. For any extension N/F, let  $RT_{L/F}(N)$  be the subgroup of  $T_{L/F}(N)$  consisting of *R*-trivial elements (see Section 2.4). The above theorem follows from the following more general theorem (see Theorem 4.4.3), where we allow more general residue fields  $\kappa$ .

**Theorem 1.0.2.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $\mathscr{X}_0$  be a regular proper model of F with reduced special fibre  $X_0$  a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Let L/F be a Galois extension over F of degree n. Suppose that the graph associated to  $\mathscr{X}_0$  is a tree, and:

- $char(\kappa)$  is coprime to n,
- $\kappa$  contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity  $\rho$ , and

• for all finite extensions  $\kappa'/\kappa$  and for all finite Galois extensions  $l/\kappa'$  of degree d dividing n,

$$T_{l/\kappa'}(\kappa') = RT_{l/\kappa'}(\kappa') \langle \rho^{n/d} \rangle.$$

Then the local-global principle holds for the norm one torus  $T_{L/F}$ .

Remark 1.0.3. In fact one can restrict to divisorial discrete valuations in the above theorems.

We now briefly describe the strategy of the proof of Theorem 1.0.2. Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F with reduced special fibre X a union of regular curves with normal crossings. For any point  $P \in X$ , let  $F_P$  be the fraction field of the completion of the local ring at P on  $\mathscr{X}$ .

For a linear algebraic group G over F, let us define:

•III<sub>X</sub>(F,G) := ker 
$$\left( H^1(F,G) \to \prod_{P \in X} H^1(F_P,G) \right)$$
  
•III(F,G) := ker  $\left( H^1(F,G) \to \prod_{\nu \in \Omega_F} H^1(F_\nu,G) \right)$ .

It is known that  $\operatorname{III}_X(F,G) \subseteq \operatorname{III}(F,G)$  ([HHK15a, Proposition 8.2.]).

In general,  $\operatorname{III}_X(F,G)$  and  $\operatorname{III}(F,G)$  are just pointed sets, but they are abelian groups if G is abelian. The pointed sets  $\operatorname{III}_X(F,G)$  and  $\operatorname{III}(F,G)$  measure the obstruction to the local-global principle for the group G with respect to points on X and with respect to discrete valuations on F respectively.

First we prove the following (see Corollary 4.4.2) in which the notion of R-equivalence and R-trivial elements play an important role.

**Theorem 1.0.4.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F with reduced special fibre X a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Let L/Fbe a Galois extension over F of degree n. Suppose that

- *n* is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ ,
- $\kappa$  contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity  $\rho$ ,

• for all finite extensions  $\kappa'/\kappa$  and for all finite Galois extensions  $l/\kappa'$  of degree d dividing n,

$$T_{l/\kappa'}(\kappa') = RT_{l/\kappa'}(\kappa') \langle \rho^{n/d} \rangle$$

• the graph associated to  $\mathscr{X}$  is a tree.

Then  $\coprod_X(F, T_{L/F}) = 0.$ 

We conclude our main theorem (Theorem 1.0.2), by proving that for K, F and L as in Theorem 1.0.4,  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = \bigcup \operatorname{III}_X(F, T_{L/F})$  (Theorem

4.3.1), where X runs over the reduced special fibres of regular proper models  $\mathscr{X}$  of F which are obtained as a sequence of blow-ups of  $\mathscr{X}_0$ centered at closed points of  $\mathscr{X}_0$ .

We also study local-global principle for multinorm tori associated to finite Galois extensions over semi-global fields with respect to discrete valuations.

Over number fields, this has been studied more generally for separable extensions quite extensively, in particular by Hürlimann ([Hür84]), Colliot-Thélène and Sansuc (unpublished), Platonov and Rapinchuk ([PRR93, Section 6.3.]), Prasad and Rapinchuk ([PR08, Section 4]), Pollio and Rapinchuk ([PR12]), Demarche and Wei ([DW14]), Pollio ([Pol14]), Bayer-Fluckiger, Lee and Parimala([BFLP19]). Let F be a number field. Let Lbe a product of m ( $m \ge 2$ ) many non-isomorphic quadratic field extensions. Let  $T_{L/F}$  be the associated multinorm torus. Then the local-global principle holds for  $T_{L/F}$  if m = 2 ([Hür84, Prop. 3.3.]). However, the local-global principle does not hold in general for m = 3 ([CT14]). It is a recent result of Bayer-Fluckiger, Lee and Parimala ([BFLP19, Thm 8.3.]) that the local-global principle holds if  $m \geq 4$ . In the same paper, they have results for more general multinorm tori which includes product of non-isomorphic degree p extensions, where p is any prime number.

Over semi-gobal fields, again using the patching technique of Harbater, Hartmann and Krashen ([HHK15a]), we prove the following theorems (see Theorem 5.2.8 and Theorem 5.2.24):

**Theorem 1.0.5.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Assume that  $\kappa$  is either algebraically closed or a finite field. Let  $L_1, L_2$  be two degree p cyclic extensions of F. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa)$ . Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$ . Then  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ .

*Remark* 1.0.6. It is important to note here that we do not need any condition on the associated graph in Theorem 1.0.5.

**Theorem 1.0.7.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  algebraically closed. Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $L_i/F, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , be quadratic cyclic extensions. Assume that  $char(\kappa) \neq 2$ . Let  $L = \prod L_i$ . If the graph associated to F is a tree then  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ .

We begin by first proving the following result (see Theorem 5.1.3):

**Theorem 1.0.8.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $L_i/F$  be Galois field extensions of degrees coprime to char( $\kappa$ ) for i = 1, 2, ..., m. Let  $L = \prod_{i=1}^{m} L_i$ . Let  $\mathscr{X}_0$  be a

regular proper model of F. Then

$$\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = \bigcup_{X} \operatorname{III}_{X}(F, T_{L/F}),$$

where X runs over the reduced special fibres of regular proper models  $\mathscr{X}$ of F which are obtained as a sequence of blow-ups of  $\mathscr{X}_0$  centered at closed points of  $\mathscr{X}_0$ .

We conclude Theorem 1.0.5 and Theorem 1.0.7 by proving that for these multinorm tori  $T_{L/F}$ ,  $\text{III}_X(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$  for appropriate choices of  $\mathscr{X}$  (see Corollary 5.2.7 and Theorem 5.2.23). Here again, the notion of R-equivalence and R-trivial elements play an important role.

In the last chapter (Chapter 6), we also give counterexamples to the local-global principles for certain norm one tori and multinorm tori over a semi-global field.

Some parts of Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 and the whole of Chapter 4 and Chapter 6 are excerpted from the author's paper titled 'Local-global principle for norm one tori' ([Mis19]).

### Chapter 2

### Prerequisites

#### 2.1 Linear algebraic groups

We recall the notion of a linear algebraic group G over a field F below. We refer the reader to [Hum75], [Mil17], [MT11], and [Sza06] for thorough expositions.

Let F be a field. A linear algebraic group is an affine algebraic variety with a group structure which is compatible with the variety structure. More precisely, we define:

**Definition 2.1.1.** (Linear algebraic group) A linear algebraic group defined over F is an affine algebraic variety G over F endowed with the structue of a group such that the following two maps:

$$\mu \colon G \times G \to G; \ \mu(x, y) = xy$$

and

$$\iota \colon G \to G; \ \iota(x) = x^{-1}$$

are morphisms of varieties.

#### Examples:

- The additive group  $\mathbb{G}_a$  over F is the affine line  $\mathbb{A}_F^1$  endowed with the group law  $\mu(x, y) = x + y$ . Here 0 is the identity element and the inverse map is given by  $\iota(x) = -x$ .
- The multiplicative group  $\mathbb{G}_m$  over F is the affine open set  $F^{\times} \subset \mathbb{A}^1$  with the group law  $\mu(x, y) = xy$ . Here 1 is the identity element and

the inverse map is given by  $\iota(x) = x^{-1}$ .

- The general linear group  $GL_n$  over F consists of invertible n by n matrices over F with the usual matrix multiplication as group law. Here the n by n identity matrix serves as the identity and the inverse of an element A is the inverse  $A^{-1}$  (the inverse matrix of the matrix A).
- The  $n^{\text{th}}$  roots of unity  $\mu_n$  over F for (n, char(F)) = 1 with the group law  $\mu(x, y) = xy$ . Here 1 is the identity and the inverse map is given by  $\iota(x) = x^{-1}$ .

A different but equivalent definition of linear algebraic group is as follows:

**Definition 2.1.2.** A linear algebraic group over F is a functor G from the category of F-algebras to the category of groups such that there exists a reduced finitely generated F-algebra A with  $F \simeq Hom(A, _)$  as functors to category of sets.

Let  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  be two linear algebraic groups.

**Definition 2.1.3.** A map  $\phi: G_1 \to G_2$  is called a morphism of linear algebraic groups if it is a group homomorphism as well as a morphism of varieties.

**Example**: The determinant map

det:  $GL_n \to G_m$ ;  $A \mapsto det(A)$ 

is a morphism of linear algebraic groups.

**Lemma 2.1.4.** A closed subgroup of a (linear) algebraic group is again a (linear) algebraic group.

**Proposition 2.1.5.** ([Hum75, Prop 1.5.]) Kernels and images of morphisms of (linear) algebraic groups are closed.

Hence we see that kernels and images of morphisms of linear algebraic groups is again a linear algebraic group.

#### Short exact sequence of algebraic groups

Let G, G', G'' be linear algebraic groups defined over a field F. Let  $F_{sep}/F$  be a fixed separable closure of F.

We say that we have a short exact sequence of linear algebraic groups

 $1 \to G' \to G \to G'' \to 1$ 

if we have the following short exact sequence of  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{sep}/F)$ -modules:

$$1 \to G'(F_{sep}) \to G(F_{sep}) \to G''(F_{sep}) \to 1.$$

**Definition 2.1.6.** (Torus) An algebraic group G defined over F is called a torus if  $G(F_{sep}) \simeq \mathbb{G}_m^n$  for some positive integer n.

#### Some examples of tori:

•  $\mathbb{G}_m^n$  for any positive integer n.

• Weil restriction of  $\mathbb{G}_m$  corresponding to finite separable extensions as defined below (see Definition 2.1.7).

• Norm one tori corresponding to finite separable extensions as defined below (see Definition 2.1.8).

Let F be any field and L/F be a finite separable extension. Let X be a variety defined over F. For any ring R, we denote by  $R^{\times}$  the set of units in R.

**Definition 2.1.7.** (Weil restriction) The Weil restriction of X, denoted by  $Res_{L/F}X$  is a variety such that for any F-algebra A, the A-points of  $Res_{L/F}X$  are given by

$$[Res_{L/F}X](A) = X(A \otimes_F L).$$

Actually,  $Res_{L/F}$  is a functor from the category of varieties over F to the category of varieties over L sending a variety X over F to the variety  $Res_{L/F}X$ . This functor is right adjoint to the base-change functor  $\_\times_F L$ 

from the category of varieties over L to the category of varieties over F. Also, for a linear algebraic group G,  $R_{L/F}G$  is again a linear algebraic group.

Next we define the norm one torus associated to the extension L/F. The norm map  $N_{L/F}: L^{\times} \to F^{\times}$  extends to a morphism from  $R_{L/F}\mathbb{G}_m$  to  $\mathbb{G}_m$ , which we also denote by  $N_{L/F}$ .

**Definition 2.1.8.** (Norm one torus) We define the **norm one torus** for the extension L/F, denoted by  $T_{L/F}$ , to be the kernel of the map  $R_{L/F}\mathbb{G}_m \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} \mathbb{G}_m$ , i.e.,

$$T_{L/F} = ker\left(R_{L/F}\mathbb{G}_m \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} \mathbb{G}_m\right).$$

Thus, by definition, we have the following short exact sequence of linear algebraic groups:

$$1 \to T_{L/F} \to R_{L/F} \mathbb{G}_m \to \mathbb{G}_m \to 1.$$

For any *F*-algebra *A*, the *A*-points of  $T_{L/F}$  are given by

$$T_{L/F}(A) = \ker \left( (A \otimes_F L)^{\times} \xrightarrow{N_{L/F} \otimes_F A} A^{\times} \right),$$

where  $N_{L/F} \otimes_F A$  is induced from the norm map  $N_{L/F}$ .

In particular, the F-points of  $T_{L/F}$  are given by

$$T_{L/F}(F) = \{a \in L^{\times} \mid N_{L/F}(a) = 1\}.$$

Next, we define multinorm tori over a field F.

Let F be a field and  $L_1, L_2, \ldots, L_m$  be finite Galois extensions of F. Let  $L = \prod_{i=1}^m L_i$ .

We denote by  $T_{L/F}$  the multinorm torus corresponding to the extensions  $L_i/F$ ,  $1 \le i \le m$ , and define it as

$$T_{L/F} = \ker \left( \prod_{i=1}^{m} R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m \xrightarrow{i=1}^{m} N_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m \right),$$

where  $N_{L_i/F}$  are the maps induced from the usual norm maps from  $L_i$  to F.

#### 2.2 Galois cohomology and torsors

We refer the readers to [Ser97] for detailed expositions on these topics.

We start with the definition of inverse systems of groups and inverse limits.

**Definition 2.2.1.** A (filtered) inverse system of groups  $(\Gamma_i, \phi_{ij})_I$  consists of the following data:

• a partially ordered set  $(I, \leq)$  which is directed, i.e., for all  $i, j \in I$ , there exists a  $k \in I$  with  $i \leq k$  and  $j \leq k$ ;

• for each  $i \in I$ , there is a group  $\Gamma_i$ ;

• for each  $i \leq j$ , there is a homomorphism  $\phi_{ij} \colon \Gamma_j \to \Gamma_i$  such that we have  $\phi_{ik} = \phi_{ij} \circ \phi_{jk}$  for  $i \leq j \leq k$ .

For an inverse system, we define the inverse limit as follows:

**Definition 2.2.2.** For an inverse system  $(\Gamma_i, \phi_{ij})_I$ , we define the inverse system, denoted by  $\lim_{\leftarrow} \Gamma_i$ , to be the subgroup of the direct product  $\prod_i \Gamma_i$  consisting of sequences  $(g_i)$  such that  $\phi_{ij}(g_j) = g_i$  whenever  $i \leq j$ .

**Definition 2.2.3.** A profinite group is a topological group which is the inverse limit of finite groups, where the finite groups are considered with the discrete topology.

**Example**: (Galois groups)

Let L/F be a finite or infinite Galois extension of fields. Then the Galois group  $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$  is the inverse limit of the finite Galois groups  $\operatorname{Gal}(K/F)$ , where K varies over all the finite Glaois extensions K/F which are contained in L/F. Hence  $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$  is a profinite group.

#### 2.2.1 Profinite Cohomology

Let  $\Gamma$  be a profinite group.

**Definition 2.2.4.** We say a group G(not necessarily abelian) is a  $\Gamma$ -group if:

•  $\Gamma$  acts continuously on G, which is equivalent to saying that  $G = \bigcup G^U$  ( the subgroup of G consisting of elements fixed under  $\Gamma$ ), where U runs over all the open subgroups of  $\Gamma$ ; and

• the action of  $\Gamma$  is compatible with the group structure of G, i.e.,  $\gamma(gh) = \gamma a^{\gamma}b$  for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and  $g, h \in G$ .

#### Definition of $H^0$ and $H^1$

For a profinite group  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma$ -group G, one defines one defines  $H^0(\Gamma, G) = G^{\Gamma}$ , the set of elements of G fixed under  $\Gamma$ . This is a subgroup of  $\Gamma$ .

A 1-cocycle of  $\Gamma$  in G is defined as a continuous map from  $\Gamma$  to G sending  $\gamma$  to  $g_{\gamma}$  such that  $g_{\gamma\gamma'} = g_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}g_{\gamma'}$  for all  $\gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma$ . Let  $1_G$  be the identity element in G. The set of 1-cocycles is denoted by  $Z^1(\Gamma, G)$ . The map from  $\Gamma$  to G given by sending every  $\gamma$  in  $\Gamma$  to  $1_A$  is a 1-cocycle, called the trivial cocycle.

We say two cocycles g and g' are cohomologous if there exists  $h \in G$ such that  $g'_{\gamma} = h^{-1}g_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}h$ . Being cohomologous is an equivalence relation in  $Z^1(\Gamma, G)$ . We define  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$  to be the quotient of  $Z^1(\Gamma, G)$  under this equivalence relation and call it the first cohomology set of  $\Gamma$  in G. The set  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$  is a pointed set, i.e., a set equipped with a distinguished element coming from the trivial cocycle.

The cohomology sets  $H^0(\Gamma, G)$  and  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$  are functorial in G.

## 2.2.2 The Long exact sequence associated to a short exact sequence of $\Gamma$ -groups

If  $f: H \to G$  is a morphism of  $\Gamma$ -groups then it induces a canonical map from  $H^i(\Gamma, H)$  to  $H^i(\Gamma, G)$  for i = 0, 1.

For a short exact sequence of  $\Gamma$ -groups, we get a long exact sequence:

Proposition 2.2.5. [Ser97, Chapter I, Proposition 38]

Let  $1 \to H \to G \to J \to 1$  be a short exact sequence of  $\Gamma$ -groups. Then there exists a connecting morphism  $\delta: J^{\Gamma} \to H^1(\Gamma, H)$  such that the sequence of pointed sets

$$1 \to H^{\Gamma} \to G^{\Gamma} \to J^{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{1}(\Gamma, H) \to H^{1}(\Gamma, G) \to H^{1}(\Gamma, J)$$

is exact.

#### Galois cohomology

Let F be a field. We fix a separable closure  $F_{sep}$  of F. Let  $\Gamma = Gal(F_{sep}/F)$ be the absolute Galois group of F. Then  $\Gamma$  is a profinite group. For a  $\Gamma$ -group G, the profinite cohomology is also called the Galois cohomology.

#### Galois cohomology of the additive and the multiplicative groups

**Proposition 2.2.6** (Hilbert 90). [GS06, Lemma 4.3.7] The Galois cohomology group  $H^1(\Gamma, F_{sep}^{\times})$  is trivial.

**Proposition 2.2.7.** [GS06, Lemma 4.3.11] The Galois cohomology group  $H^1(\Gamma, F_{sep})$  is trivial.

In this thesis, we are interested in the case when G is a linear algebraic group defined over F.

Next we define torsors under linear algebraic groups.

Let F be any field and G be a linear algebraic group over F.

**Definition 2.2.8.** We say a *F*-variety *X* is a *G*-torsor over *F* if there is an action  $G \times X \to X$  such that for every field extension L/F, the induced action of G(L) on X(L) is simply transitive.

Let X, Y be G-torsors over F.

**Definition 2.2.9.** (Morphism of G-torsors) A morphism of G-torsors over F is a morphism  $f: X \to Y$  of varieties compatible with the action of G.

**Definition 2.2.10.** (Trivial torsor) A G-torsor X over F is called a trivial G-torsor if it is isomorphic to G considered as a G-torsor under left multiplication. A G-torsor X over F is trivial if and only if  $X(F) \neq \emptyset$ .

A G-torsor is trivial if and only if it has a rational point over F.

**Proposition 2.2.11.** There is a canonical bijection between the  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$ and the set of isomorphism classes of *G*-torsors over *F*.

Proof. Let X be a G-torsor over F. Let us fix a  $x_0 \in X(F_{sep})$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ , there exists a unique  $c_{\gamma}$  in  $G(F_{sep})$  such that  ${}^{\gamma}x_0 = x_0 \cdot c_{\gamma}$ . We have  ${}^{\gamma_1 \gamma_2}x_0 = x_0 \cdot c_{\gamma_1 \gamma_2}$ . Also,  ${}^{\gamma_1 \gamma_2}x_0 = {}^{\gamma_1}({}^{\gamma_2}x_0) = {}^{\gamma_1}(x_0 \cdot c_{\gamma_2}) =$  ${}^{\gamma_1}x_0 \cdot {}^{\gamma_1}c_{\gamma_2} = x_0 \cdot (c_{\gamma_1}{}^{\gamma_1}c_{\gamma_2})$ . Hence  $c_{\gamma_1 \gamma_2} = c_{\gamma_1}{}^{\gamma_1}c_{\gamma_2}$ . So the map  $\gamma \mapsto c_{\gamma}$ defines a cocycle. Also, the class of cocycle c does not choice of  $x_0 \in X$ . Let  $y_0 \in X$ . Then there exists a unique  $g_o \in G(F_{sep})$  with  $y_o = x_o \cdot g_0$ . We have:  ${}^{\gamma}y_o = {}^{\gamma}(x_o \cdot g_0) = {}^{\gamma}x_o \cdot {}^{\gamma}g_o = x_0 \cdot c_{\gamma} \cdot {}^{\gamma}g_0 = y_o \cdot (g_0^{-1}c_{\gamma}){}^{\gamma}g_0)$ . As  $(g_0^{-1}c_{\gamma}){}^{\gamma}g_0)$  and  $c_{\gamma}$  represent the same class in  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$ , we actually get a well-defined map from the set of isomorphism classes of G-torsors over F to  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$ . Clearly, this map takes the equivalence class of trivial G-torsors to the identity element in  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$ .

Conversely, let  $c \in Z^1(\Gamma, G)$  be a cocycle. We consider  $G \times_F F_{sep}$  and define a  $\Gamma$  action by  $\gamma(x) = c_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}x$ . This defines a variety over F, which is isomorphic to G over  $F_{sep}$ . Hence  $X_c$  is a G-torsor over F. If we choose some other cocycle representative for the equivalence class of c in  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$ , say d with  $d_{\gamma} = g^{-1}c_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}g$  for some  $g \in G(F_{sep})$ . Then  $X_d$  is isomorphic to  $X_c$  as a G-torsor via left translation by g since  $g(d_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}x) = g(g^{-1}c_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}g{}^{\gamma}x) = c_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}(gx)$ . Hence we get a map from  $H^1(\Gamma, G)$ to the set of equivalence classes of G-torsors over F.

One checks that the two maps defined above are inverses of each other. Hence we get the desired bijection.

**Example**- (Torsors under norm one tori and multinorm tori)

Let L/F be a Galois extension. By definition of norm one torus  $T_{L/F}$ , we have the short exact sequence:

$$1 \to T_{L/F} \to R_{L/F} \mathbb{G}_m \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} \mathbb{G}_m \to 1.$$

By taking Galois cohomology, we get:

$$1 \to T_{L/F}(F) \to L^{\times} \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} F^{\times} \to H^1(F, T_{L/F}) \to 1$$

since  $H^1(F, R_{L/F}\mathbb{G}_m) = \{1\}$  (by Hilbert 90 and Shapiro's lemma).

Hence  $H^1(F, T_{L/F}) \simeq F^{\times}/N_{L/F}(L^{\times})$ . Thus, the isomorphism classes of  $T_{L/F}$ -torsors correspond to the equivalence classes of  $F^{\times}/N_{L/F}(L^{\times})$ , with the trivial torsor corresponding to the equivalence class of 1. For any  $\lambda \in F^{\times}$ , we can define  $X_{\lambda}$  to be the variety defined by  $N_{L/F}(Z) = \lambda$ . The varieties  $X_{\lambda}$  are  $T_{L/F}$ -torsors over F. And, these are all  $T_{L/F}$ -torsors over F upto isomorphism.

Similarly, let  $T_{L/F}$  be the multinorm torus corresponding to the extensions  $L_i/F$ ,  $1 \le i \le m$ . Then we have:

$$1 \to T_{L/F} \to \left(\prod_{i=1}^m R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m\right) \xrightarrow{\prod_{i=1}^m N_{L_i/F}} \mathbb{G}_m \to 1.$$

By taking Galois cohomology, we get:

$$1 \to T_{L/F}(F) \to \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} (L_i^{\times})\right) \xrightarrow{\prod_{i=1}^{m} N_{L_i/F}} F^{\times} \to H^1(F, T_{L/F}) \to 1$$

since  $H^1(F, R_{L/F}\mathbb{G}_m) = \{1\}$  (by Hilbert 90 and Shapiro's lemma). Hence  $H^1(F, T_{L/F}) \simeq F^{\times}/N_{L/F}(L^{\times})$ . Thus, the isomorphism classes of  $T_{L/F}$ -torsors correspond to the equivalence classes of  $F^{\times}/\prod_{i=1}^m N_{L_i/F}(L_i^{\times})$ , with the trivial torsor corresponding to the equivalence class of 1. For any  $\lambda \in F^{\times}$ , we can define  $X_{\lambda}$  to be the variety defined by  $\prod_{i=1}^{m} N_{L_i/F}(Z_i) = \lambda$ .

The varieties  $X_{\lambda}$  are  $T_{L/F}$ -torsors over F. And, these are all  $T_{L/F}$ -torsors over F upto isomorphism.

#### 2.3 Local-global principles for linear algebraic groups

Let F be any field and  $\Omega_F$  be the set of discrete valuations on F. Let G be a linear algebraic group defined over F.

We say that the local-global principle holds for G if for all G-torsors X, we have: X has a rational point over F if and only if X has a rational point over  $F_{\nu}$  for all  $\nu \in \Omega_F$ .

We define the group  $\operatorname{III}(F,G)$  as

$$\operatorname{III}(F,G) := ker\left(H^1(F,G) \to \prod_{\nu \in \Omega_F} H^1(F_{\nu},G)\right)$$

Since a G-torsor is trivial if and only if it has a rational point over F, the local-global principle holds for G if and only if  $\operatorname{III}(F,G)$  is trivial.

When F is a number field, the local-global principle holds for various classes of linear algebraic groups ([PRR93, Chapter6]), including semisimple simply connected algebraic groups. Here we also consider the completions at archimedean places while discussing local-global principles. Sansuc ([San81]) proved that the failure of the local-global principle for connected linear algebraic groups over number fields can be explained by the Brauer-Manin obstruction. However, not much is known for general fields. In this thesis, we are exploring local-global principles for norm one tori over semi-global fields.

#### 2.4 R-equivalence and flasque tori

We refer the reader to [CTS77] and [CTS87] for more details about R-equivalence and flasque tori.

**Notation 2.4.1.** Let F be a field and L be an étale algeba over F. Throughout this thesis, we will denote the norm 1 torus  $R^1_{L/F}\mathbb{G}_m$  by  $T_{L/F}$ .

Let X be a variety over a field F. For a field extension L of F, let X(L)be the set of L-points of X. We say that two points  $x_0, x_1 \in X(L)$  are elementary R-equivalent, denoted by  $x_0 \sim x_1$ , if there is a rational map  $f: \mathbb{P}^1(L) \dashrightarrow X(L)$  such that  $f(0) = x_0$  and  $f(1) = x_1$ . The equivalence relation generated by  $\sim$  is called R-equivalence. When X = G is an algebraic group defined over F with the identity element e, we define  $RG(L) = \{ x \in G(L) \mid x \text{ is } R\text{-equivalent to } e \}$ . The elements of RG(L) are called R-trivial elements. It is well-known that RG(L) is a normal subgroup of G(L) (cf. [Gil10, p-1]) Sometimes, we denote G(L)/RG(L) by G(L)/R. Let L/F be a Galois extension with Galois group G, and  $T_{L/F}$  be the norm 1 torus associated to the extension L/F. Then for any extension N/F,  $RT_{L/F}(N)$  is the subgroup generated by the set  $\{a^{-1}\sigma(a) \mid a \in (L \otimes_F N)^{\times}, \sigma \in G\}$  ([CTS77, Proposition 15]).

We note a well-known fact here:

**Lemma 2.4.2.** Let F be a field and L/F be a finite cyclic extension. Then  $T_{L/F}(F) = RT_{L/F}(F)$ .

*Proof.* By [CTS77, Proposition 15], we know that  $RT_{L/F}(F)$  is generated by the set  $\{a^{-1}\sigma(a) \mid a \in (L)^{\times}, \sigma \in \text{Gal}(L/F)\}$ . Hence by Hilbert 90 theorem, we conclude that  $T_{L/F}(F) = RT_{L/F}(F)$ .

Now we discuss few basic results about R-equivalence on norm one tori and multinorm tori.

**Proposition 2.4.3.** Let F be a field and  $L_0/F$  be a finite separable extension. Let L be the product of m copies of  $L_0$ . Then the homomorphism  $T_{L/F} \to T_{L_0/F}$  given by  $(a_1, \ldots, a_m) \mapsto a_1 \cdots a_m$  induces an isomorphism

$$T_{L/F}(F)/RT_{L/F}(F) \to T_{L_0/F}(F)/RT_{L_0/F}(F).$$

Proof. In fact the isomorphism  $(R_{L_0/F}(\mathbb{G}_m))^m \to (R_{L_0/F}(\mathbb{G}_m))^m$  given by sending  $(b_1, \ldots, b_m)$  to  $(b_1, \ldots, b_{m-1}, b_1 b_2 \cdots b_m)$  induces an isomorphism of algebraic groups  $T_{L/F} \to (R_{L_0/F}(\mathbb{G}_m))^{m-1} \times T_{L_0/F}$  ([BFLP19, Lemma 1.1.]). Since  $R_{L_0/F}(\mathbb{G}_m)$  is rational,  $R_{L_0/F}(\mathbb{G}_m)/R = \{1\}$  ([Gil10, Corollary 1.6.]). Hence the homomorphism  $T_{L/F} \to T_{L_0/F}$  given by  $(a_1, \ldots, a_m) \mapsto a_1 \cdots a_m$  induces an isomorphism  $T_{L/F}(F)/RT_{L/F}(F) \to T_{L_0/F}(F)/RT_{L_0/F}(F)$ .  $\Box$  **Corollary 2.4.4.** Let F be a field and  $L_0/F$  be a finite separable extension of degree d and L be the product of m copies of  $L_0$ . Suppose that F contains  $\rho$ , a primitive  $(dm)^{\text{th}}$  root of unity. If

$$T_{L_0/F}(F) = RT_{L_0/F}(F) \langle \rho^m \rangle,$$

then

$$T_{L/F}(F) = RT_{L/F}(F)\langle \rho \rangle.$$

*Proof.* Since  $(\rho, \rho, \ldots, \rho) \in T_{L/F}$  maps to  $\rho^m$  under the isomorphism given in Proposition 2.4.3, the corollary follows from Proposition 2.4.3).

The following proposition is a generalisation of Proposition 2.4.3.

**Proposition 2.4.5.** Let F be a field and let  $L_1, L_2, \ldots, L_m$  be finite separable extensions of F where m is a natural number. Let  $L = \prod_{i=1}^m L_i$ . Let  $r_i$  be positive integers for  $i, 1 \le i \le m$ . Let  $L' = \prod_{i=1}^m \left(\prod_{i=1}^{r_i} L_i\right)$ . Then  $T_{L/F}(F)/R \simeq T_{L'/F}(F)/R$ .

*Proof.* By induction, it is enough to consider the case when  $r_1 = 2$  and  $r_i = 1$  for  $2 \le i \le m$ . Let us consider the map

$$f \colon R_{L_1/F} \mathbb{G}_m \times \prod_{i=1}^m R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m \to R_{L_1/F} \mathbb{G}_m \times \prod_{i=1}^m R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m$$

which sends  $(a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_m)$  to  $(a_o, a_0a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_m)$ . Then f is an isomorphism of algebraic groups. This induces an isomorphism from  $T_{L'/F} \rightarrow R_{L_1/F}\mathbb{G}_m \times T_{L/F}$ . Since  $R_{L_1/F}(\mathbb{G}_m)$  is rational,  $R_{L_1/F}(\mathbb{G}_m)/R = \{1\}$  ([Gil10, Corollary 1.6.]). Hence by ([Gil10, p-1]), the isomorphism above induces an isomorphism  $T_{L'/F}(F)/R \rightarrow T_{L/F}(F)/R$ .

**Lemma 2.4.6.** Let F be a field and  $L_i, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , be finite separable extensions of F and let  $L = F \times \prod_{i=1}^{m} L_i$ . Then  $T_{L/F}(F) = RT_{L/F}(F)$ .

*Proof.* Let us consider the map  $f: \prod_{i=1}^{m} R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m \to T_{L/F}$  which sends  $(a_1, \ldots, a_m)$  to  $(\prod_{i=1}^{m} N_{L_i/F}(a_i)^{-1}, a_1, \ldots, a_m)$ . Then f is an isomorphism of

algebraic groups. Since  $R_{L_i/F}(\mathbb{G}_m)$  are rational,  $R_{L_i/F}(\mathbb{G}_m)(F)/R = \{1\}$ ([Gil10, Corollary 1.6.]) and consequently, by ([Gil10, p-1]),

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m(F)\right) / R = \{1\} = T_{L/F}(F) / R.$$

**Lemma 2.4.7.** Let L/F be a finite Galois extension of degree n and N/F be any field extension. If  $\alpha \in (L \otimes_F N)^{\times}$ , then  $N_{L \otimes_F N/N}(\alpha)^{-1} \alpha^n \in RT_{L/F}(N)$ .

*Proof.* Let G be the Galois group of L/F. Since  $N_{L\otimes_F N/N}(\alpha) = \prod_{\sigma \in G} \sigma(\alpha)$ ,

we have

$$N_{L\otimes_F N/N}(\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^n = \left[\prod_{\sigma\in G}\sigma(\alpha)\right]^{-1}\alpha^n = \prod_{\sigma\in G}\left(\left[\sigma(\alpha)\right]^{-1}\alpha\right).$$

Hence  $N_{L\otimes_F N/N}(\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^n \in RT_{L/F}(N).$ 

Next, we define character group of a torus, quasitrivial torus, flasque torus and flasque resolution of a torus.

Let F be a field and  $F_{sep}$  be a separable closure of F. For a torus Tover F, we define its character group  $\hat{T}$  as the group of homomorphisms of  $F_{sep}$ -algebraic groups from  $T \times_F F_{sep}$  to  $\mathbb{G}_{m,F_{sep}}$ . The group  $\hat{T}$  has a natural action of the Galois group  $Gal(F_{sep}/F)$  which makes it into a  $Gal(F_{sep}/F)$ -lattice. In other words,  $\hat{T}$  is free and finitely generated abelian group with a continuous, discrete action of  $Gal(F_{sep}/F)$ . This lattice determines the F-torus T and there is anti-equivalence between the category of F-tori and the category of  $Gal(F_{sep}/F)$ -lattices.

**Definition 2.4.8.** A quasitrivial F-torus E is a F-torus which is Fisomorphic to a finite product  $\prod_{i=1}^{m} R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m$ , where  $L_i/F$  are finite separable extensions and  $R_{L_i/F}$  denote Weil restrictions.

The group  $\prod_{i=1}^{m} R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m$  is an open subset of  $\prod_{i=1}^{m} R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_a$ , which is *F*-isomorphic to  $\mathbb{A}_F^n$  for some *n*. Thus quasitrivial tori are rational linear algebraic groups.

**Definition 2.4.9.** A flasque F-torus S is a F-torus for which

 $H^1(H, Hom_{\mathbb{Z}}(\hat{S}, \mathbb{Z})) = 0$ 

for all closed subgroups H of  $Gal(F_{sep}/F)$ .

**Definition 2.4.10.** A flasque resolution of a F-torus T is a short exact sequence of F-tori

$$1 \to S \xrightarrow{J} E \xrightarrow{g} T \to 1$$

with E quasitrivial and S flasque.

The important fact here, due to Colliot-Thélène and Sansuc ([CTS77]), is the following:

For any F-torus T, there always exists a flasque resolution

$$1 \to S \xrightarrow{f} E \xrightarrow{g} T \to 1$$

and it is unique up to taking a direct product of S and E with the same quasitrivial torus, respectively.

**Lemma 2.4.11.** Let T be a torus defined over a semi-global field F. Then for any  $\alpha_{P,U} \in RT(F_{P,U})$ , there exists  $\alpha_P \in RT(F_P)$  and  $\alpha_U \in RT(F_U)$ such that  $\alpha_{P,U} = \alpha_P \alpha_U$  in  $RT(F_{P,U})$ .

*Proof.* We consider a flasque resolution of T over F given by

$$1 \to S \xrightarrow{f} E \xrightarrow{g} T \to 1,$$

where E is a quasitrivial torus and S is a flasque torus. Considering the above sequence over  $F_{P,U}$  and by [CTS77, Théorème 2, p-199],  $g(E(F_{P,U})) = RT(F_{P,U})$ . Let  $\beta_{P,U} \in E(F_{P,U})$  with  $g(\beta_{P,U}) = \alpha_{P,U}$ . Then since E is quasitrivial, it is also rational. Hence by [HHK09, Theorem 3.7.], there exists  $\beta_P \in E(F_P)$  and  $\beta_U \in E(F_U)$  with  $\beta_{P,U} = \beta_P \beta_U$ in  $E(F_{P,U})$ . Thus, applying g, we get that  $\alpha_{P,U} = g(\beta_P)g(\beta_U)$ , where  $g(\beta_P) \in RT(F_P) \subseteq RT(F_{P,U})$  and  $g(\beta_U) \in RT(F_U) \subseteq RT(F_{P,U})$ . Hence we are done.

### Chapter 3

### Semi-global fields and Patching

Let F be a field and  $\Omega_F$  be the set of all equivalence classes of discrete valuations  $\nu$  on F. For  $\nu \in \Omega_F$ , let  $F_{\nu}$  denote the completion of F at  $\nu$ and  $\kappa(\nu)$  the residue field at  $\nu$ . For an algebraic group G over F, let

$$\operatorname{III}(F,G) := ker\left(H^1(F,G) \to \prod_{\nu \in \Omega_F} H^1(F_{\nu},G)\right).$$

In this thesis, we are concerned with a special class of fields called semiglobal fields.

**Definition 3.0.1.** (Semi-global field) A semi-global field is the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over a complete discretely valued field.

**Example**: Some examples of semi-global fields are:  $\mathbb{C}((t))(x)$ ,  $\mathbb{Q}_p(x)$ ,  $\mathbb{F}_p((t))(x)$  and  $\frac{\mathbb{C}((t))(x)[y]}{\langle xy(x+y-1)-t\rangle}$ .

Let T be a complete discretely valued ring with fraction field K and residue field  $\kappa$ . Let  $t \in T$  be a parameter. Let F be a function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Thus F is a semi-global field. Then there exists a regular 2-dimensional integral scheme  $\mathscr{X}$  which is proper over T with function field F. We call such a scheme  $\mathscr{X}$  a regular proper model of F. Further there exists a regular proper model of F with the reduced special fibre a union of regular curves with only normal crossings. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F with the reduced special fibre X a union of regular curves with only normal crossings.

#### 3.1 Overfields of a semi-global field

For a semi-global field F and a regular proper model  $\mathscr{X}$  of F, one can associate three different kinds of overfields of F. We describe them below and discuss how they are related to each other.

For any point x of  $\mathscr{X}$ , let  $R_x$  be the local ring at x on  $\mathscr{X}$ ,  $\hat{R}_x$  the completion of the local ring  $R_x$ ,  $F_x$  the fraction field of  $\hat{R}_x$  and  $\kappa(x)$  the residue field at x.

For any subset U of X that is contained in an irreducible component of X, let  $R_U$  be the subring of F consisting of the rational functions which are regular at every point of U. Let  $\widehat{R_U}$  be the t-adic completion of  $R_U$  and  $F_U$  the fraction field of  $\widehat{R_U}$ .

Let  $\eta \in X$  be a codimension zero point and  $P \in X$  a closed point such that P is in the closure  $X_{\eta}$  of  $\eta$ . Such a pair  $(P, \eta)$  is called a branch. For a branch  $(P, \eta)$ , we define  $F_{P,\eta}$  to be the completion of  $F_P$  at the discrete valuation of  $F_P$  associated to  $\eta$ . We call such fields branch fields. If  $\eta$  is a codimension zero point of X,  $U \subset X_{\eta}$  an open subset and  $P \in X_{\eta}$  a closed point, then we will use (P, U) to denote the branch  $(P, \eta)$  and  $F_{P,U}$ to denote the field  $F_{P,\eta}$ .

With  $P, U, \eta$  as above, there are natural inclusions of  $F_P$ ,  $F_U$  and  $F_{\eta}$  into  $F_{P,\eta} = F_{P,U}$ . Also, there is a natural inclusion of  $F_U$  into  $F_{\eta}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a nonempty finite set of closed points of X that contains all the closed points of X, where distinct irreducible components of X meet. Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be the set of connected components of the complement of  $\mathcal{P}$  in X and let  $\mathcal{B}$  be the set of branches (P, U) with  $P \in \mathcal{P}$  and  $U \in \mathcal{U}$  with P in the closure of U.

#### **3.2** Tate-Shafarevich groups

Let G be a linear algebraic group over F. Let us define

$$\operatorname{III}_{\mathscr{X},\mathcal{P}}(F,G) := ker\left(H^1(F,G) \to \prod_{\xi \in \mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}} H^1(F_{\xi},G)\right).$$

If  $\mathscr{X}$  is understood, we will just use the notation  $\operatorname{III}_{\mathcal{P}}(F,G)$ .

Similarly, let us define

$$\amalg_{\mathscr{X},X}(F,G) := ker\left(H^1(F,G) \to \prod_{P \in X} H^1(F_P,G)\right).$$

Again, if  $\mathscr{X}$  is understood, we will just use the notation  $\operatorname{III}_X(F,G)$ .

We have a bijection([HHK15a, Corollary 3.6.]) :

$$\prod_{U \in \mathcal{U}} G(F_U) \Big\backslash \prod_{(P,U) \in \mathcal{B}} G(F_{P,U}) \Big/ \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} G(F_P) \to \operatorname{III}_{\mathcal{P}}(F,G)$$

This is a very useful result since the double coset mentioned above is usually more manageable to work with.

By [HHK15a, Corollary 5.9.], we have  $\operatorname{III}_X(F,G) = \bigcup \operatorname{III}_{\mathcal{P}}(F,G)$ , where union ranges over all finite subsets  $\mathcal{P}$  of closed points of  $\mathscr{X}$  which contain all the singular points of X. We also have  $\operatorname{III}_X(F,G) \subseteq \operatorname{III}(F,G)$ ([HHK15a, Proposition 8.2.]).

#### 3.3 The associated graph

We start with basic facts about finite bipartite trees.

**Lemma 3.3.1.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a finite bipartite graph and G be an abstract group. Let V be the set of vertices with parts  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ . For each edge  $\theta$ of  $\Gamma$ , let  $g_{\theta} \in G$ . If  $\Gamma$  is a tree, then for every  $v \in V$ , there exists  $g_v \in G$ such that if e is an edge joining two vertices  $v_i \in V_i$ , then  $g_e = g_{v_1}g_{v_2}$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\Gamma$  is a tree. Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\Gamma$  is a connected graph. We prove the lemma by the induction on number of vertices. Suppose that  $\Gamma$  has one one vertex. Then there is nothing to prove.

Suppose that  $\Gamma$  has more than one vertex. Since  $\Gamma$  is a connected tree, there exists a vertex  $v_0 \in V$  with exactly one edge  $\theta$  at  $v_0$ . Without loss of generality, we may assume  $v_0 \in V_1$ . Let  $\Gamma'$  be the graph obtained from  $\Gamma$  by removing the vertex  $v_0$  and the edge  $\theta$ . Then  $\Gamma'$  is again a finite bipartite graph which is a tree. Then by induction hypothesis, for every vertex v of  $\Gamma'$ , there exists  $g_v \in G$  such that if e is an edge in  $\Gamma'$  joining  $v_1 \in V_1 \setminus \{v_0\}$  and  $v_2 \in V_2$ , then  $g_e = g_{v_1}g_{v_2}$ . Let  $v'_0 \in V_2$  be the other vertex of the edge  $\theta$ . Let  $g_{v_0} = g_{\theta} g_{v'_0}^{-1}$ . Then it follows that  $g_v$  have the required property. 

We can generalize the above lemma as follows:

**Lemma 3.3.2.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a finite bipartite tree. Let V be the set of vertices with parts  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  and E be the set of edges. Suppose that for every edge  $e \in E$ , we have an abstract group  $G_e$  and for every vertex  $v \in V$ , we have an abstract group  $G_v$  such that for all  $v \in V$  and edges e with v as one of the vertex, we have a surjective group homomorphism  $f_{v,e}: G_v \to G_e$ . Then for every tuple  $(g_e)_{e \in E} \in \prod_{e \in E} G_e$ , there exists a tuple  $(g_v)_{v \in V} \in \prod_{v \in V} G_v$  such that if e is the edge joining the vertices  $v_1$  and  $v_2$ ,

$$g_e = f_{v_1,e}(g_{v_1}) \cdot f_{v_2,e}(g_{v_2}).$$

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\Gamma$  is a connected tree. We prove the lemma by induction on the number of vertices of  $\Gamma$ . Suppose  $\Gamma$  has only one vertex. Then there is nothing to prove.

Suppose  $\Gamma$  has *n* vertices, where n > 1. Let  $(g_e)_{e \in E} \in \prod G_e$ . Since  $\Gamma$ is a finite connected tree, there exists a vertex  $v_0$  with exactly one edge  $\theta$  at  $v_0$ . Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $v_0 \in V_1$ . Let  $\Gamma'$  denote the graph obtained by deleting the vertex  $v_0$  and the edge  $\theta$ . Then  $\Gamma'$  is again a finite bipartite tree with n-1 vertices. Thus, by induction hypothesis, there exists a tuple  $(g_v)_{v \in V \setminus \{v_0\}} \in \prod G_v$  such  $v \in V \setminus \{v_0\}$ 

that whenever  $e \in E \setminus \{\theta\}$  is an edge between some vertices  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  in  $V \setminus \{v_0\}$ , we have  $g_e = f_{v_1,e}(g_{v_1}) \cdot f_{v_2,e}(g_{v_2})$ .

Let  $v'_0 \in V_2$  be the other vertex of the edge  $\theta$ . Choosing  $g_{v_0}$  to be an element in  $f_{v_0,\theta}^{-1}(g_{\theta} \cdot f_{v'_0,\theta}(g_{v'_0}))$ , we see that  $(g_v)_{v \in V}$  satisfies the required property. Hence we are done.

Let T be a complete discretely valued ring with fraction field K, and residue field  $\kappa$ . Let  $t \in T$  be a parameter. Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K and  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F with the reduced special fibre X a union of regular curves with only normal crossings. Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a nonempty finite set of closed points of X that contains all the closed points of X, where distinct irreducible components of X meet. Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be the set of connected components of the complement of  $\mathcal{P}$  in X and let  $\mathcal{B}$  be the set of branches (P, U) with  $P \in \mathcal{P}$  and  $U \in \mathcal{U}$  with P in the closure of U.

We have a graph  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X}, \mathcal{P})$  associated to  $\mathscr{X}$  and  $\mathcal{P}$  whose vertices are elements of  $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}$  and edges are elements of  $\mathcal{B}$ . Since there are no edges between any vertices which are in  $\mathcal{P}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{U}$ ),  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X}, \mathcal{P})$  is a finite bipartite graph with parts  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{U}$ . If  $\mathcal{P}'$  is another finite set of closed points of X containing all the closed points of X where distinct irreducible components of X meet, then  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X}, \mathcal{P})$  is a tree is and only if  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X}, \mathcal{P}')$  is a tree ([HHK15a, Remark 6.1(b)]). Hence if  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X}, \mathcal{P})$  is a tree for some  $\mathcal{P}$  as above, then we say that the graph  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X})$  associated to  $\mathscr{X}$  is a tree.

Now we have the following result as a corollary to Lemma 3.3.1 and Lemma 3.3.2.

**Corollary 3.3.3.** Let  $F, \mathscr{X}, X, \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  be as above. Let G be an abstract group and for each branch  $b \in \mathcal{B}$ , let  $g_b \in G$ . Suppose that the graph  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X})$  associated to  $\mathscr{X}$  is a tree. Then for every  $\zeta \in \mathcal{U} \cup \mathcal{P}$ , there exists  $g_{\zeta} \in G$  such that if  $b = (P, U) \in \mathcal{B}$ , then  $g_b = g_P g_U$ .

*Proof.* The proof immediately follows from Lemma 3.3.1.

**Corollary 3.3.4.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F and X be the reduced special fibre. Let T be a torus defined over F. Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a finite set of closed points of X containing all the nodal points. Assume that:

• the graph associated to F is a tree,

• the natural map  $T(F_U) \to T(F_{P,U})/R$  is surjective for all possible U and branches (P, U), where U is one of the components of  $X \setminus \mathcal{P}$ 

• the natural map  $T(F_P) \to T(F_{P,U})/R$  is surjective for all possible P and branches (P, U).

Then  $\amalg_{\mathcal{P}}(F,T) = 0.$ 

*Proof.* We have a finite bipartite tree with  $V_1 = \mathcal{P}$ ,  $V_2 = \mathcal{U}$  and  $E = \mathcal{B}$ , where  $(P, U) \in \mathcal{B}$  is the edge joining  $P \in \mathcal{P}$  and  $U \in V_2$ . We get the result by considering  $G_{P,U} = T(F_{P,U})/R$ ,  $G_P = T(F_P)$  and  $G_U = T(F_U)$  and applying Lemma 3.3.2.



### Chapter 4

### Local-global principle for norm one tori over semi-global fields

# 4.1 Norm one elements - complete discretely valued fields

Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let L/F be a Galois extension. Let l denote the residue field of L. In this section, we investigate the relationship between the groups  $T_{L/F}(F)/RT_{L/F}(F)$  and  $T_{l/\kappa}(\kappa)/RT_{l/\kappa}(\kappa)$ . This allows us to transfer our assumptions from the residue fields to the branch fields (see Section 3.1), which is crucial for proving local-global principles for norm one tori for semi-global fields (see Lemma 4.4.1).

**Lemma 4.1.1.** Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and L/F be a finite Galois extension of degree n with residue field l. Suppose that n is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $z \in T_{L/F}(F)$ . If the image of z in l is 1, then  $z \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ .

Proof. Let S be the integral closure of R in L. Then S is a complete discrete valuation ring with residue field l. Let  $z \in T_{L/F}(F)$  with the image of z in l is 1. Since n is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ), by Hensel's lemma, there is a  $w \in S$  with  $\overline{w} = 1$  and  $z = w^n$ . Since  $N_{L/F}(z) = 1$ ,  $N_{L/F}(w)^n = 1$ and hence  $\rho = N_{L/F}(w)$  is an n<sup>th</sup> root of unity. Since  $\overline{w} = 1$ ,  $\overline{N_{L/F}(w)} =$  $N_{l/\kappa}(\overline{w})^e = 1$ , where e is the ramification index of the extension L/F. Hence  $\overline{\rho} = 1$ . Since n is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ), by Hensel's lemma, the quotient map  $S \to l$  induces a bijection from the set of n<sup>th</sup> roots of unity in S to the set of  $n^{\text{th}}$  roots of unity in l. Hence  $\rho = 1$  and  $w \in T_{L/F}(F)$ . Since  $z = w^n$ ,  $z \in RT_{L/F}(F)$  by Lemma 2.4.7.

**Lemma 4.1.2.** Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let L/F be a Galois extension of degree n. Suppose that  $(n, char(\kappa)) =$ 1. Suppose that F contains a primitive n<sup>th</sup> root of unity  $\rho_n$ . Let l be the residue field of L and  $f = [l: \kappa]$ . If

$$T_{l/\kappa}(\kappa) = RT_{l/\kappa}(\kappa) \langle \rho_n^{n/f} \rangle,$$

then

$$T_{L/F}(F) = RT_{L/F}(F)\langle \rho_n \rangle.$$

*Proof.* Let R be the discrete valuation ring of F and S be the integral closure of R in L. Let e be the ramification index of the extension L/F. Then n = ef. For any element  $y \in S(\text{resp. } R)$ , we will use  $\overline{y}$  to denote its image in the residue field  $l(\text{resp. } \kappa)$ .

Let  $x \in L$  with  $N_{L/F}(x) = 1$ . Then  $N_{l/\kappa}(\overline{x})^e = \overline{N_{L/F}(x)} = 1$ . Hence  $N_{l/\kappa}(\overline{x}) = \rho_n^{fi}$  for some i with  $0 \leq i < e$ . Let  $y = \rho_n^{-i}x$ . Then  $N_{L/F}(y) = 1$  and  $N_{l/\kappa}(\overline{y}) = N_{l/\kappa}(\rho_n^{-i})N_{l/\kappa}(\overline{x}) = \rho_n^{-fi}\rho_n^{fi} = 1$ . Thus  $\overline{y} \in T_{l/\kappa}(\kappa)$  and hence, by the assumption,  $\overline{y} = \theta \rho_n^{ej}$  for some  $\theta \in RT_{l/\kappa}(\kappa)$  and j an integer. We write

$$\theta = \prod_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(l/\kappa)} (a_{\sigma})^{-1} \sigma(a_{\sigma})$$

for some  $a_{\sigma} \in l^{\times}$ . Since  $\operatorname{Gal}(l/\kappa)$  is a quotient of  $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$ , for every  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(l/\kappa)$  we choose a lift  $\tilde{\sigma} \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$  of  $\sigma$ . Let  $b_{\sigma} \in S$  with  $\bar{b}_{\sigma} = a_{\sigma}$  and

$$z = y^{-1} \rho_n^{ej} \prod_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(l/\kappa)} (b_{\sigma})^{-1} \tilde{\sigma}(b_{\sigma}).$$

Then  $z \in T_{L/F}(F)$  and  $\overline{z} = 1$ . Thus, by Lemma 4.1.1,  $z \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ . Therefore  $y \in RT_{L/F}(F)\langle \rho_n \rangle$  and hence  $x \in RT_{L/F}(F)\langle \rho_n \rangle$ .

**Definition 4.1.3.** A complete discretely valued field K with finite residue field is called a 1-local field. For  $m \ge 1$ , a complete discretely valued field K with m-local residue field k is called a (m + 1)-local field. If K is a 1-local field, the residue field of K is called the first residue field of K. If K is a (m + 1)-local field with residue field k, then the first residue field of k is called the first residue field of K. **Corollary 4.1.4.** Let K be an m-local field with first residue field  $\kappa$  or an iterated Laurent series in m variables over an algebraically closed field  $\kappa$ . Let L/K be a finite Galois extension of degree n. If n is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ) and K contains a primitive n<sup>th</sup> root of unity  $\rho_n$ , then

$$T_{L/K}(K) = RT_{L/K}(K) \langle \rho_n \rangle.$$

*Proof.* Every finite extension  $l/\kappa$  is cyclic and by Hilbert 90,  $T_{l/\kappa}(\kappa) = RT_{l/\kappa}(\kappa)$ . Thus, by Lemma 4.1.2,  $T_{L/K}(F) = RT_{L/K}(K)\langle \rho_n \rangle$ . The corollary follows by induction on m and by Lemma 4.1.2.

### 4.2 Two dimensional complete fields

Let F be a field with a discrete valuation v. Let  $\kappa(v)$  be the residue field of v. Let L/F be a finite separable extension and w be a discrete valuation on L extending v. Let e(w/v) be the ramification index of w over v. For any field E,  $a \in E^{\times}$  and  $n \ge 1$ , let  $E(\sqrt[n]{a})$  denote the field generated by E and  $\sqrt[n]{a}$  in a fixed algebraic closure of E.

**Lemma 4.2.1.** Let F be a field with a discrete valuation  $v, \pi \in F^{\times}$  with  $v(\pi) = 1$ . Let L/F be a finite separable extension of degree coprime to  $char(\kappa(v))$  and w be a discrete valuation of L extending v. Let  $\ell$  be a prime not equal to  $char(\kappa(v))$ . Then there is a unique discrete valuation  $\tilde{v}$  on  $F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi})$  extending v. Let  $\tilde{w}$  on  $L(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi})$  be a discrete valuation extending w. If  $\ell$  divides e(w/v), then  $e(\tilde{w}/\tilde{v}) = e(w/v)/\ell$ .

*Proof.* Since  $v(\pi) = 1$ , v is totally ramified in  $F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi})$  and hence there is a unique extension  $\tilde{v}$  of v to  $F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi})$ .

For the ramification index calculations, we can replace F by  $F_v$ , the completion of F with respect to the valuation v and hence may assume that F is complete. Let  $L^{nr}$  be the maximal unramified subextension of L/F. Since the ramification index of  $L/L^{nr}$  is same as the ramification index of L/F, replacing F by  $L^{nr}$ , we may assume that L/F is totally ramified. Since n = e = [L: F] is coprime to char $(\kappa(v))$ , we have  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{u\pi})$  for some  $u \in F$  with v(u) = 0 ([CF67, Proposition 1, p-32]).

By hypothesis, we have that  $\ell$  divides n. Suppose that  $u \in F^{\times \ell}$ . Then  $F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi}) \subseteq L$  and hence  $L/F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi})$  is a totally ramified extension of degree  $n/\ell$ . Now suppose that  $u \notin F^{\times \ell}$ . Then  $L(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi}) = F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi})(\sqrt[\ell]{u})(\sqrt[n/\ell]{\sqrt[\ell]{u\pi}})$ . Hence the ramification index of the extension  $L(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi})/F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi})$  is  $n/\ell$ .  $\Box$ 

**Notation 4.2.2.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with residue field  $\kappa$  and fraction field F. Let  $\mathbf{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2) \subset A$  be the maximal ideal of A. For i = 1, 2, we denote by  $\widehat{A}_{(\pi_i)}$  be the completion of the local ring  $A_{(\pi_i)}$  with respect to the ideal  $(\pi_i)$  and by  $F_{\pi_i}$  the fraction field of  $\widehat{A}_{(\pi_i)}$ .

We are studying these fields since the fields  $F_P$  appearing in the patching setup (see Section 3.1) are fraction fields of complete regular local rings of dimension 2 and the branch fields are obtained as completions of the fields  $F_P$  as discussed above.

#### 4.2.1 Structure of extensions of two dimensional complete fields

Let F be as in Notation 4.2.2. In this subsection, we study finite Galois extensions of F.

In the following lemma, we prove that under some assumptions, a field extension L over F remains a field after base change to the completion  $F_{\pi_i}$  for i = 1, 2:

**Lemma 4.2.3.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with residue field  $\kappa$  and fraction field F. Let L/F be a separable field extension of degree n, where n is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2) \subset A$  be the maximal ideal of A. Suppose that L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2 \in A$ . Then  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_i}$  is a field for i = 1, 2.

*Proof.* Let  $v_i$  be the discrete valuation of F given by  $\pi_i$ , for i = 1, 2. To show that  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_i}$  is a field, it is enough to show that there is a unique extension of  $v_i$  to a discrete valuation on L.

Let  $w_i^j$  be the extensions of the valuations  $v_i$  to L. Let m be the maximum of  $e(w_i^{j_i}/v_i)$  for i = 1, 2, where  $1 \le j_i \le n_i$  for some positive integers  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ . Since each  $e(w_i^{j_i}/v_i) \ge 1$ ,  $m \ge 1$ . We prove the result by induction on m.

Suppose that m = 1. Then  $e(w_i^{j_i}/v_i) = 1$  for for i = 1, 2 and  $1 \le j_i \le n_i$ . Hence L/F is unramified at  $\pi_i$  for i = 1, 2. Since L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2, L/F$  is unramified on A. Let  $\tilde{A}$  be the integral closure of A in L. Then  $\tilde{A}$  is again a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with  $(\pi_1, \pi_2)$  as maximal ideal and fraction field L. Thus  $\pi_i$  remains a prime over A. Hence there is a unique extension of  $v_i$  to a discrete valuation of L. Hence  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_i} \cong L_{\pi_i}$  is a field.

Now suppose that m > 1. Let  $\ell$  be a prime which divides m. Let  $E = F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi_1}, \sqrt[\ell]{\pi_2})$  and  $M = L(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi_1}, \sqrt[\ell]{\pi_2})$ . Let B be the integral closure of A in E. Then by [PS14, Corollary 3.3.], B is a regular local ring with maximal ideal  $(\pi'_1, \pi'_2)$ , where  $\pi'_1 = \sqrt[\ell]{\pi_1}$  and  $\pi'_2 = \sqrt[\ell]{\pi_2}$ . Then M/E is unramified on B except possibly at  $\pi'_1$  and  $\pi'_2$ . Since  $(\pi_1, \pi_2)$  is the maximal ideal of A, it follows that there is a unique extension of  $v_i$  to E, which we denote by  $\tilde{v}_i$ . Let  $\omega$  be a discrete valuation of M extending  $\tilde{v}_i$  for some i. Then the restriction of  $\omega$  to L is equal to  $w_i^{j_i}$  for some  $j_i$ . Let  $E_i = F(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi_i})$  and  $M_i = L(\sqrt[\ell]{\pi_i})$ . Let  $\omega'$  and  $v'_i$  be the restrictions of  $\omega$  and  $\tilde{v}_i$  to  $M_i$  and  $E_i$  respectively. Suppose that  $e(w_i^{j_i}/v_i) = m$ . Then by Lemma 4.2.1,  $e(\omega'/v'_i) = e(w_i^{j_i}/v_i)/\ell$  and  $e(\omega/\tilde{v}_i) \leq e(\omega'/v'_i) = e(w_i^{j_i}/v_i)/\ell$ . Hence, by induction hypothesis, for each i = 1, 2, there is a unique extension of  $v_i$  to L. Hence  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_i}$  is a field.

The next lemma describes the structure of finite Galois extensions L/Fwhich are unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2 \in A$  and totally ramified at  $\pi_2$ .

**Lemma 4.2.4.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with residue field  $\kappa$  and fraction field F. Let L/F be a Galois extension of degree n, where n is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2) \subset A$  be the maximal ideal of A. Suppose that L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2 \in A$  and totally ramified at  $\pi_2$ . Then  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{u\pi_1^m\pi_2})$  for some  $u \in A$  a unit and some integer m.

Proof. Let G be the Galois group of L/F. Since the degree of L/F is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ) and L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2$ , by Lemma 4.2.3,  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_2}$  is a field. Since  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_2}/F_{\pi_2}$  is a totally tamely ramified extension,  $F_{\pi_2}$  contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity and we have  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_2} = F_{\pi_2}(\sqrt[n]{\theta \pi_2})$  for some  $\theta \in F_{\pi_2}$  which is a unit in the discrete valuation ring of  $F_{\pi_2}$  by [CF67, Proposition 1, p-32]. In particular G is a cyclic group. Since  $F_{\pi_2}$  contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity, the residue field  $\kappa(\pi_2)$  of  $F_{\pi_2}$  contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity. Since  $\kappa$  is the residue field of  $\kappa(\pi_2)$ ,  $\kappa$  also contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity. Since A is complete, by Hensel's lemma, F contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity.

Hence  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{a})$  for some  $a \in F$ . Since L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2$ , we can choose  $a = u\pi_1^m \pi_2^d$  for some  $u \in A$  a unit and

integers m, d. Since L/F is totally ramified at  $\pi_2, d$  is coprime to n and hence we can assume that d = 1.

Next we consider finite Galois extensions L/F which are unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$ .

**Lemma 4.2.5.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with residue field  $\kappa$  and fraction field F. Let L/F be a Galois extension of degree coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2) \subset A$  be the maximal ideal of A. Suppose that L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$ . Then there exists a subextension  $L_1/F$  of L/F such that:

- $L_1/F$  is unramified on A, and
- $L = L_1(\sqrt[e]{u\pi_1})$  for some unit u in the integral closure of A in  $L_1$ .

Proof. Let G be the Galois group of L/F. Since  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}$  is a field extension by Lemma 4.2.3, the Galois group  $\operatorname{Gal}(L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1})$  is isomorphic to G. We will identify these two groups. We consider the inertia group H of the extension  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}$  which is a subgroup of G. Let  $L_1 = L^H$ . Then  $(L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1})^H = L_1 \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$  is unramified over  $F_{\pi_1}$  by [CF67, Theorem 2, p-27]. Hence  $(L_1)_{\pi_1} \cong L_1 \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$  is unramified over  $F_{\pi_1}$  and  $L_1/F$  is unramified at  $\pi_1$ . Since L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$ ,  $L_1/F$  is unramified on A. Then the integral closure B of A in  $L_1$  is a regular local ring with maximal ideal  $(\pi_1, \pi_2)$ . Let  $e = [L: L_1]$ . Since L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$ . Hence by Lemma 4.2.4, with the roles of  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2$  interchanged, we have  $L = L_1(\sqrt[e]{u\pi_2^m\pi_1})$  for some  $u \in B$  a unit. Since  $L/L_1$  is unramified on B except possibly at  $\pi_1$ , m is divisibly by e and hence  $L = L_1(\sqrt[e]{u\pi_1})$ .

The next lemma describes the structure of finite Galois extensions L/Funramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2 \in A$ , hence generalising Lemma 4.2.4 and Lemma 4.2.5.

**Theorem 4.2.6.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with residue field  $\kappa$  and fraction field F. Let L/F be a Galois extension of degree coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2) \subset A$  be the maximal ideal of A. Suppose that L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2 \in A$ . Then there exists subfields  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  of L such that :

- $F \subseteq L_1 \subseteq L_2 \subseteq L$ ,
- $L_1/F$  is unramified on A,
- $L_2 = L_1(\sqrt[d_1]{u\pi_1})$  for some unit u in the integral closure of A in  $L_1$ , and
- $L = L_2(\sqrt[d_2]{v(\sqrt[d_1]{u\pi_1})^i\pi_2})$  for some unit v in the integral closure of A in  $L_2$ .

Proof. Let G be the Galois group of L/F. Since  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_2}/F_{\pi_2}$  is a field extension by Lemma 4.2.3, the Galois group  $\operatorname{Gal}(L \otimes_F F_{\pi_2}/F_{\pi_2})$  is isomorphic to G. We identify these two groups. We consider the inertia group H of the extension  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_2}/F_{\pi_2}$  which is a subgroup of G. Let  $L_2 = L^H$ . Then as in Lemma 4.2.5,  $L_2/F$  is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$ . Hence, by Lemma 4.2.5, there exists a sub extension  $L_1/F$ of  $L_2/F$  such that  $L_1/F$  is unramified on A and  $L_2 = L_1(\sqrt[d_1]{u\pi_1})$  for some unit u in the integral closure of A in  $L_1$ . Let B be the integral closure of A in  $L_2$ . Then B is a regular local ring with maximal ideal  $(\sqrt[d_1]{u\pi_1}, \pi_2)$  by [PS14, Lemma 3.2.]. Since  $L/L_2$  is unramified on B except possibly at  $\sqrt[d_1]{u\pi_1}, \pi_2$  and totally ramified at  $\pi_2$ , by Lemma 4.2.4,  $L = L_2(\sqrt[d_2]{v(\sqrt[d_1]{u\pi_1})^i\pi_2})$  for some unit  $v \in B$ .

#### 4.2.2 Norms over two dimensional complete fields

Let A, F,  $\pi_1, \pi_2$  be as in Notation 4.2.2. Let  $\lambda = u\pi_1^r \pi_2^s$  for some unit  $u \in A$  and integers r, s. In this subsection, we show that if  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extension  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}$ , then  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extension L/F.

We begin by describing the elements of  $F_{\pi_i}^{\times}/F_{\pi_i}^{\times n}$ .

**Lemma 4.2.7.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with residue field  $\kappa$  and fraction field F. Let  $\mathbf{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2)$  be the maximal ideal of A. Let  $m \ge 1$  be an integer coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $F_{\pi_1}$  be the completion of F at the discrete valuation of F given by  $\pi_1$ . Then every element in  $F_{\pi_1}$  can be written as  $u\pi_1^s\pi_2^ta^m$  for some  $u \in A$  a unit,  $a \in F_{\pi_1}$ and integers s, t.

Proof. Let  $\widehat{A}_{(\pi_1)}$  be the completion of the local ring  $A_{(\pi_1)}$ . Then  $F_{\pi_1}$  is the fraction field of  $\widehat{A}_{(\pi_1)}$ . Let  $x \in F_{\pi_1}$ . Then  $x = v\pi_1^s$  for some unit  $v \in \widehat{A}_{(\pi_1)}$  and integer s. Let  $\overline{v}$  be the image of v in the residue field  $\kappa(\pi_1)$ of  $F_{\pi_1}$ . Since  $\kappa(\pi_1)$  is the fraction field of  $A/(\pi_1)$  and  $A/(\pi_1)$  is a discrete valuation ring with the image  $\overline{\pi}_2$  as a parameter, we can write  $\overline{v} = z\overline{\pi}_2^t$ for some unit  $z \in A/(\pi_1)$  and integer t. Let  $u \in A$  with  $\overline{u} = z \in A/(\pi_1)$ . Since z is a unit in  $A/(\pi_1)$ , u is a unit in A. Hence  $x^{-1}u\pi_1^s\pi_2^t$  maps to 1 in  $\kappa(\pi_1)$ . Since m is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ), by Hensel's lemma,  $x = u\pi_1^s\pi_2^t a^m$ for some  $a \in F_{\pi_1}$ .

**Lemma 4.2.8.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with residue field  $\kappa$  and fraction field F. Let L/F be a Galois field extension of degree n, where n is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2)$  be the maximal ideal of A. Suppose that L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$ . Let  $\lambda = u\pi_1^r \pi_2^s$  for some unit  $u \in A$  and integers r, s. If  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extension  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}$ , then  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extension L/F.

Proof. Let  $\mu \in L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$  be such that  $N_{L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(\mu) = \lambda$ . Since L/F is a Galois extension which is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$ , by Lemma 4.2.5, we have a subfield  $F \subseteq L_1 \subseteq L$  such that  $L_1/F$  is unramified on A and  $L = L_1(\sqrt[e]{v\pi_1})$ , where  $e = [L: L_1]$  and v is a unit in the integral closure of A in  $L_1$ . Let B be the integral closure of A in L. Then B is a regular local ring with maximal ideal  $(\sqrt[e]{v\pi_1}, \pi_2)$  by [PS14, Lemma 3.2.]. Hence, by Lemma 4.2.7,  $\mu = w\sqrt[e]{v\pi_1}^i \pi_2^j b^n$  for some integers  $i, j, b \in L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$  and w a unit in B. Let  $\theta = w\sqrt[e]{v\pi_1}^i \pi_2^j \in L$ . Since  $N_{L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(\mu) = \lambda$ , we have  $N_{L/F}(\theta^{-1})\lambda = N_{L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(b^n) \in F_{\pi_1}^{\times n}$ . Since  $N_{L/F}(\theta^{-1})\lambda = [N_{L/F}(w)v\pi_1^{ni/e}\pi_2^{nj}]^{-1}u\pi_1^r\pi_2^s = [u(N_{L/F}(w))^{-1}]\pi_1^{r-ni/e}\pi_2^{s-nj}$  and  $u(N_{L/F}(w))^{-1}$  is a unit in A, by [PPS18, Corollary 5.5.],  $N_{L/F}(\theta^{-1})\lambda \in F^{\times n}$ . In particular  $N_{L/F}(\theta^{-1})\lambda$  is a norm from the extension L/F and hence  $\lambda$  is a norm from L/F.

**Theorem 4.2.9.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with residue field  $\kappa$  and fraction field F. Let L/F be a Galois field extension of degree n, where n is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2)$ be the maximal ideal of A. Suppose that L/F is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2$ . Let  $\lambda = u\pi_1^r \pi_2^s$  for some unit  $u \in A$  and integers r, s. If  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extension  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}$ , then  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extension L/F.

*Proof.* Let  $\mu \in L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$  be such that  $N_{L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(\mu) = \lambda$ . We show by induction on the degree of the field extension L/F that  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extension L/F.

Since L/F is a Galois extension which is unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2$ , we have subfields  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  as in Theorem 4.2.6. Let B be the integral closure of A in  $L_2$ . Then B is a complete regular local ring with maximal ideal ( $\sqrt[4]{v\pi_1}, \pi_2$ ) by ([PS14, Lemma 3.2.]). By Lemma 4.2.7, we have  $N_{L\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}}(\mu) = w \sqrt[4]{v\pi_1}^i \pi_2^j b^n$  for some integers  $i, j, b \in L_2 \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$  and w a unit in B. Then  $\theta = w \sqrt[4]{v\pi_1}^i \pi_2^j$  is a norm from  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/L_2 \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$ .

Suppose that  $F \neq L_2$ . Then  $[L: L_2] < [L: F]$  and by induction,  $\theta$  is a norm from  $L/L_2$ . Write  $\theta = N_{L/L_2}(\theta')$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \lambda &= N_{L\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(\mu) \\ &= N_{L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(N_{L\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}}(\mu)) \\ &= N_{L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(\theta b^n) \\ &= N_{L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(\theta) N_{L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(b^n) \\ &= N_{L_2/F}(\theta) N_{L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(b)^n \\ &= N_{L_2/F}(N_{L/L_2}(\theta') N_{L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(b)^n \\ &= N_{L/F}(\theta') N_{L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(b)^n \end{split}$$

Since  $N_{L/F}(\theta') = N_{L_2/F}(\theta) = N_{L_2/F}(w \sqrt[4]{v\pi_1}^i \pi_1^j), N_{L/F}(\theta')^{-1}\lambda$  is a product of a unit in A with a power of  $\pi_1$  and a power of  $\pi_2$ . Since  $N_{L/F}(\theta')^{-1}\lambda = N_{L_2\otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(b)^n \in F_{\pi_1}^n$ , by [PPS18, Corollary 5.5.], we conclude that  $N_{L/F}(\theta')^{-1}\lambda$  is a  $n^{\text{th}}$  power in F and hence a norm from L to F. Hence  $\lambda$  is also a norm from L to F.

Now suppose  $F = L_2$ . Then  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{v\pi_2})$ , where v is a unit in A. Hence L/F is a cyclic extension of degree n. Let  $\sigma$  be a generator of the Galois group of L/F and C be the cyclic algebra  $(L, \sigma, \lambda)$ . Since L/F is unramified on A except at  $\pi_2$ , C is a unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2$ . Since  $\lambda$  is a norm from  $L \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$ ,  $C \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}$  is a split algebra. Thus, by [PPS18, Corollary 5.5.], C is a split algebra and hence  $\lambda$  is a norm from the extension L/F by [Alb39, Theorem 6, p-95].

### 4.3 III vs $III_X$

In this section, we compare the groups  $\operatorname{III}_X(F, T_{L/F})$  and  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F})$ for a semi-global field F and a finite Galois extension L/F of degree coprime to the characteristic of the residue field. The proof uses Theorem 4.2.9. This allows us to use patching techniques to prove the local-global principle for norm one tori  $T_{L/F}$  over F with respect to discrete valuations. **Theorem 4.3.1.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K and  $\mathscr{X}_0$  a regular proper model of F with reduced special fibre  $X_0$ . Let L/F be a Galois field extension of degree coprime to char( $\kappa$ ). Then  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = \bigcup_X \operatorname{III}_X(F, T_{L/F})$ , where X runs over the

reduced special fibres of regular proper models  $\mathscr{X}$  of F which are obtained as a sequence of blow-ups of  $\mathscr{X}_0$  centered at closed points of  $\mathscr{X}_0$ .

Proof. Let x be an element in  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) \subseteq H^1(F, T_{L/F})$ . Since we have  $H^1(F, T_{L/F}) \simeq F^{\times}/N_{L/F}(L^{\times})$ , we can choose  $\lambda \in F^{\times}$  a lift of x. For a regular proper model  $\mathscr{X}$  of F, let  $supp_{\mathscr{X}}(\lambda)$  denote the support of  $\lambda$  in  $\mathscr{X}$  and  $ram_{\mathscr{X}}(L/F)$  denote the ramification locus for the extension L/F with respect to  $\mathscr{X}$ . By [Lip75, p-193], there exists a sequence of blow-ups  $\mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{X}_0$  centered at closed points of  $\mathscr{X}_0$  such that the union of  $supp_{\mathscr{X}}(\lambda), ram_{\mathscr{X}}(L/F)$  and the reduced special fibre X of  $\mathscr{X}$  is a union of regular curves with normal crossings. We show that  $x \in \operatorname{III}_X(F, T_{L/F})$ .

Let  $P \in X$ . First suppose P is a generic point of X. Then P gives a discrete valuation  $\nu$  of F with  $F_{\nu} = F_P$ . Since  $x \in \text{III}(F, T_{L/F})$ , x maps to 0 in  $H^1(F_P, T_{L/F})$ .

Next suppose that P is a closed point. Let  $\eta_1$  be the generic point of an irreducible component of X containing P. Let  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  be the local ring at P and  $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  be its maximal ideal. Then by our choice of  $\mathscr{X}, \mathfrak{m}_{\mathscr{X},P} = (\pi_1, \pi_2)$ , where  $\pi_1$  is a prime defining  $\eta_1$  at  $P, \lambda = u\pi_1^r\pi_2^s$  for some unit  $u \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  and integers r, s, and  $L \otimes_F F_P/F_P$  is unramified on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2$ . Since L/F is a Galois extension,  $L \otimes_F F_P = \prod L_P$  for some Galois extension  $L_P/F_P$ . Since  $L \otimes_F F_P/F_P$  is unramified on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2, L_P/F_P$  is unramified on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2, L_P/F_P$  is unramified on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2$ . Since  $\lambda$  is a lift of  $x \in \coprod_X(F, T_{L/F}), \lambda$  is a norm from  $L \otimes_F F_{\eta_1}/F_{\eta_1}$ . Since  $F_{\eta_1} \subset F_{P,\eta_1}, \lambda$  is a norm from  $L \otimes_F F_{P,\eta_1}/F_{P,\eta_1}$ . Hence  $\lambda$  is a norm from  $L_P \otimes_{F_P} F_{P,\eta_1}/F_{P,\eta_1}$ . Thus, by Theorem (4.2.9),  $\lambda$  is a norm from  $L_P/F_P$  and x maps to 0 in  $H^1(F_P, T_{L/F})$ . Therefore  $x \in \coprod_X(F, T_{L/F})$ . By [HHK15a, Proposition 8.2.], we have  $\bigcup_X \amalg_X(F, T_{L/F}) = \amalg_X(F, T_{L/F})$ .

where X runs over the reduced special fibres of regular proper models  $\mathscr{X}$  of F which are obtained as a sequence of blow-ups of  $\mathscr{X}_0$  centered at closed points of  $\mathscr{X}_0$ .

Remark 4.3.2. The proof of Theorem 4.3.1 also works if we just consider divisorial discrete valuations instead of considering all discrete valuations on F.

### 4.4 Local-Global Principle

In this section, we prove the local-global principle for norm one tori over semi-global fields with respect to points on the reduced special fibre under some assumptions on the semi-global field and the residue field. This, combined with Theorem 4.3.1, allows us to conclude that under the same assumptions, the local-global principle for norm one tori also holds with respect to discrete valuations.

**Lemma 4.4.1.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F with the reduced special fibre X a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Let L/F be a finite Galois extension over F of degree n. Let  $P \in X$  be a closed point and U an irreducible open subset of X with P in the closure of U. Suppose that:

- *n* is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ ,
- K contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity  $\rho$ , and
- for all finite Galois extensions  $l/\kappa(P)$  of degree d dividing n,

$$T_{l/\kappa(P)}(\kappa(P)) = RT_{l/\kappa(P)}(\kappa(P))\langle \rho^{n/d} \rangle.$$

Then

$$T_{L\otimes_F F_{P,U}/F_{P,U}}(F_{P,U}) = RT_{L\otimes_F F_{P,U}/F_{P,U}}(F_{P,U})\langle\rho\rangle.$$

Proof. Let  $\kappa(U)$  be the function field of U. Since X is a union of regular curves, P gives a discrete valuation on  $\kappa(U)$ . Let  $\kappa(U)_P$  be the completion of  $\kappa(U)$  at P. Then by definition,  $F_{P,U}$  is a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa(U)_P$ . Since L/F is a Galois extension of degree  $n, L \otimes_F F_{P,U} \simeq \prod L_0$  for some finite Galois extension  $L_0/F_{P,U}$  of degree d dividing n. Since  $F_{P,U}$  is a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa(U)_P$ ,  $L_0$  is a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $M_0$  a finite extension of  $\kappa(U)_P$  of degree  $d_1$  dividing d. Since  $\kappa(U)_P$  is a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa(P)$ ,  $M_0$  is a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa(P)$ ,  $M_0$  is a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $k_0$  a finite Galois extension of  $\kappa(P)$  of degree  $d_2$  dividing  $d_1$ . Hence, by the assumption on  $\kappa(P)$  and Lemma 4.1.2, we have

$$T_{M_0/\kappa(U)_P}(\kappa(U)_P) = RT_{M_0/\kappa(U)_P}(\kappa(U)_P) \langle \rho^{n/d_1} \rangle.$$

Hence, once again by Lemma 4.1.2, we have

$$T_{L_0/F_{P,U}}(F_{P,U}) = RT_{L_0/F_{P,U}}(F_{P,U})\langle \rho^{n/d} \rangle.$$

Since  $L \otimes_F F_{P,U}$  is the product of n/d copies of  $L_0$ , by Corollary 2.4.4, we have

$$T_{L\otimes_F F_{P,U}/F_{P,U}}(F_{P,U}) = RT_{L\otimes_F F_{P,U}/F_{P,U}}(F_{P,U})\langle\rho\rangle.$$

We are now ready to prove the local-global principle for norm one tori over semi-global fields with respect to points on the reduced special fibre of the model under some assumptions on the given semi-global field F and the residue field  $\kappa$ .

**Theorem 4.4.2.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F with reduced special fibre X a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Let L/Fbe a Galois extension over F of degree n. Suppose that

- *n* is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ ,
- K contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity  $\rho$ ,

• for all finite extensions  $\kappa'/\kappa$  and for all finite Galois extensions  $l/\kappa'$  of degree d dividing n,

$$T_{l/\kappa'}(\kappa') = RT_{l/\kappa'}(\kappa') \langle \rho^{n/d} \rangle,$$

• the graph associated to  $\mathscr X$  is a tree.

Then  $\coprod_X(F, T_{L/F}) = 0.$ 

Proof. Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a finite set of closed points of X containing all the nodal points of X. By [HHK15a, Corollary 5.9.], it is enough to show that  $III_{\mathcal{P}}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ . Let  $X \setminus \mathcal{P} = \bigcup_i U_i$ . Then each  $U_i$  is an irreducible open subset of X. By ([HHK15a, Corollary 3.6.]), it is enough to show that the product map

$$\psi: \prod_{i} T_{L/F}(F_{U_i}) \times \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} T_{L/F}(F_P) \to \prod_{(P,U_i)} T_{L/F}(F_{P,U_i})$$

is surjective, where the product on the right hand side is taken over all pairs  $(P, U_i)$  with  $P \in \mathcal{P}$  and  $U_i$  such that P in the closure of  $U_i$ .

Let  $(\lambda_{P,U_i}) \in \prod_{(P,U_i)} T_{L/F}(F_{P,U_i})$ . We show that  $(\lambda_{P,U_i})$  is in the image of  $\psi$ . By Lemma 4.4.1, for each pair  $(P, U_i)$  with P in the closure of  $U_i$ , we have  $\lambda_{P,U_i} = \rho^{j_{P,U_i}} \mu_{P,U_i}$  for some integer  $j_{P,U_i}$  and  $\mu_{P,U_i} \in RT_{L/F}(F_{P,U_i})$ . Let G be the Galois group of L/F. For each  $\sigma \in G$ , there exists  $a_{\sigma,P,U_i} \in (L \otimes_F F_{P,U_i})^{\times}$  such that

$$\mu_{P,U_i} = \prod_{\sigma \in G(L/F)} \sigma(a_{\sigma,P,U_i})(a_{\sigma,P,U_i})^{-1}.$$

Since the group  $R_{L/F}(\mathbb{G}_m)$  is *F*-rational, by ([HHK09, Theorem 3.6.]),

$$\prod_{i} (L \otimes_F F_{U_i})^{\times} \times \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} (L \otimes_F F_P)^{\times} \to \prod_{(P,U_i)} (L \otimes_F F_{P,U_i})^{\times}$$

is surjective. Hence for each  $\sigma \in G$ , there exist  $b_{\sigma,U_i} \in (L \otimes_F F_{U_i})^{\times}$  and  $b_{\sigma,P} \in (L \otimes_F F_P)^{\times}$  such that  $a_{\sigma,P,U_i} = b_{\sigma,U_i}b_{\sigma,P}$ . We have

$$\mu_{P,U_i} = \prod_{\sigma \in G(L/F)} \sigma(a_{\sigma,P,U_i})(a_{\sigma,P,U_i})^{-1}$$
  
= 
$$\prod_{\sigma \in G(L/F)} \sigma(b_{\sigma,U_i}b_{\sigma,P})(b_{\sigma,U_i}b_{\sigma,P})^{-1}$$
  
= 
$$\prod_{\sigma \in G(L/F)} \sigma(b_{\sigma,U_i})(b_{\sigma,U_i})^{-1}\sigma(b_{\sigma,P})(b_{\sigma,P})^{-1}$$

Since  $\sigma(b_{\sigma,U_i})(b_{\sigma,U_i})^{-1} \in T_{L/F}(F_{U_i})$  and  $\sigma(b_{\sigma,P})(b_{\sigma,P})^{-1} \in T_{L/F}(F_P)$ ,  $(\mu_{P,U_i})$  is in the image of  $\psi$ .

Since  $T_{L/F}(F)$  is a group and  $\rho \in T_{L/F}(F)$ , by Corollary 3.3.3,  $(\rho^{j_{P,U_i}})$  is in the image of  $\psi$ . Since  $\psi$  is a homomorphism,  $(\lambda_{P,U_i})$  is in the image of  $\psi$ , hence proving that  $\psi$  is surjective.  $\Box$ 

Using the above theorem and Theorem 4.3.1, we get that the under same assumptions, we have the local-global principle for norm one tori over semi-global fields with respect to discrete valuations:

**Theorem 4.4.3.** With the hypothesis as in Theorem 4.4.2, we have  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F which is obtained as a sequence of blow-ups of  $\mathscr{X}_0$  at closed points. Since the graph  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X}_0)$  is a tree,  $\Gamma(\mathscr{X})$  is also a tree (see [HHK15a, Remark 6.1(b)]). Let X be the reduced special fibre of  $\mathscr{X}$ . Then  $\operatorname{III}_X(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$  by Theorem 4.4.2. Thus, by Theorem (4.3.1), we have  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ .

**Corollary 4.4.4.** Let K be an m-local field with first residue field  $\kappa$  or an iterated Laurent series in m variables over an algebraically closed field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K and L/F be a finite Galois extension of degree n with  $(n, char(\kappa)) = 1$ . Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F with reduced special fibre X a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Suppose that the graph associated to  $\mathscr{X}$  is a tree. If K contains a primitive n<sup>th</sup> root of unity, then  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* This immediately follows from Corollary 4.1.4 and Theorem (4.4.3).

Remark 4.4.5. By Remark 4.3.2, the results also hold true if we just consider divisorial discrete valuations instead of all discrete valuations on F in Theorem 4.4.3 and Corollary 4.4.4.

## Chapter 5

# Local-global principle for multinorm tori over semi-global fields

Let F be a field and  $L_1, L_2, \ldots, L_m$  be finite Galois extensions of F. Let  $L = \prod_{i=1}^m L_i$ . We denote by  $T_{L/F}$  the multinorm torus corresponding to the extensions  $L_i/F$ ,  $1 \le i \le m$ . More precisely,  $T_{L/F}$  is the torus defined as

$$T_{L/F} = ker \left( \prod_{i=1}^{m} R_{L_i/F} \mathbb{G}_m \xrightarrow{\prod_{i=1}^{m} N_{L_i/F}} \mathbb{G}_m \right)$$

where  $N_{L_i/F}$  are the maps induced from the usual norm maps from  $L_i$  to F.

For any field F and finite separable extensions  $L_i/F$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq m$ , if the gcd of the degrees  $[L_i : F]$  is 1, then the local-global principle holds for the multinorm torus  $T_{L/F}$ . For any  $\lambda \in F^{\times}$ ,  $\lambda^{[L_i:F]}$  is in the image of the norm map  $N_{L_i/F}$ . Since the gcd of the degrees  $[L_i : F]$  is 1,  $\lambda$  is a product of norm from the extensions  $L_i/F$ . So it is interesting only to consider the cases when the gcd of the degrees of the extensions is not 1.

For a semi-global field F and étale algebras L/F which are either product to two degree p cyclic extensions or product of finitely many quadratic cyclic extensions, we study local-global principle for multinorm tori  $T_{L/F}$ with respect to discrete valuations on F.

#### 5.1 III vs III<sub>X</sub>

We follow the same strategy as we had in the norm one tori case and compare the groups  $\amalg$  and  $\amalg_X$  for multinorm tori.

**Notation 5.1.1.** For a regular proper model  $\mathscr{X}$  of a semi-global field Fand a field extension L/F, we use  $ram_{\mathscr{X}}(L/F)$  to denote the ramification locus for the extension L/F with respect to  $\mathscr{X}$ . Also, for  $\lambda \in F^{\times}$ , we use  $supp_{\mathscr{X}}(\lambda)$  to denote the support of  $\lambda$  in  $\mathscr{X}$ .

**Theorem 5.1.2.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with the residue field  $\kappa$  and the fraction field F. Let  $L_1, L_2, \ldots, L_m$ be finite Galois extensions of F with  $[L_i: F] = n_i$ . Assume that all  $n_i$ are coprime to char( $\kappa$ ). Let  $\mathfrak{m} = (\pi_1, \pi_2)$  be the maximal ideal of A. Assume that  $L_i/F$  are unramified on A except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2$ . Let  $\lambda = u\pi_1^r \pi_2^s \in F$ , where  $u \in A$  is a unit and r, s are integers. Suppose that  $\lambda$  is a product of norms from the extensions  $L_i \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}$ . Then  $\lambda$  is a product of norms from the extensions  $L_i/F$ .

Proof. Let us consider  $n = \prod_{i=1}^{m} n_i$ . By our assumption, n is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ). Let  $\lambda = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \beta_i$ , where  $\beta_i = N_{L_i \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}}(\alpha_i)$  for some  $\alpha_i \in (L_i \otimes_F F_{\pi_1})^{\times}$ . By Lemma 4.2.7, we can write  $\beta_i = u_i \pi_1^{r_i} \pi_2^{s_i} b_i^n$  for some  $u_i \in A$  a unit,  $b_i \in F_{\pi_1}$  and integers  $r_i, s_i$ . Let  $b = \prod_{i=1}^{m} (b_i)^n$ . Then  $b = \lambda \prod_{i=1}^{m} (u_i \pi_1^{r_i} \pi_2^{s_i})^{-1}$ . Hence  $b \in F$ . Since b is a  $n^{\text{th}}$  power in  $F_{\pi_1}$ , it is a  $n^{\text{th}}$  power in F by [PPS18, Corollary 5.5.] and hence is a norm from  $L_i/F$ . Thus we can assume that  $b_i = 1$ . So let  $\lambda = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \beta_i$  with  $\beta_j = u_i \pi_1^{r_i} \pi_2^{s_i}$  such that  $\beta_i$  is a norm from  $L_i \otimes_F F_{\pi_1}/F_{\pi_1}$ . By Theorem 4.2.9, we conclude that  $\beta_i$  is a norm from  $L_i/F$  and hence  $\lambda$ is a product of norms from the extensions  $L_i/F$ .

**Theorem 5.1.3.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $L_i/F$  be Galois field extensions of degrees coprime to  $char(\kappa)$  for i = 1, 2, ..., m. Let  $L = \prod_{i=1}^{m} L_i$ . Let  $\mathscr{X}_0$  be a regular proper model of F. Then

$$\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = \bigcup_{X} \operatorname{III}_{X}(F, T_{L/F}),$$

where X runs over the reduced special fibres of regular proper models  $\mathscr{X}$  of F which are obtained as a sequence of blow-ups of  $\mathscr{X}_0$  centered at closed points of  $\mathscr{X}_0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) \subset H^1(F, T_{L/F})$ . Since

$$H^{1}(F, T_{L/F}) \simeq F^{\times} / (\prod_{i=1}^{m} N_{L_{j}/F}(L_{i}^{\times})),$$

let  $\lambda \in F^{\times}$  be a lift of x. By [Lip75, p-193], there exists a sequence of blow-ups  $\mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{X}_0$  centered at closed points of  $\mathscr{X}_0$  such that the union of  $supp_{\mathscr{X}}(\lambda), ram_{\mathscr{X}}(L_i/F)$  and the reduced special fiber X of  $\mathscr{X}$  is a union of regular curves with normal crossings. We show that  $x \in III_X(F, T_{L/F})$ .

Let  $P \in X$ . Suppose P is a generic point of X. Then P gives a discrete valuation  $\nu$  of F with  $F_{\nu} = F_P$ . Since  $x \in \text{III}(F, T_{L/F})$ , x maps to 0 in  $H^1(F_P, T_{L/F})$ .

Suppose that P is a closed point. Let  $\eta_1$  be the generic point of an irreducible component of X containing P. Let  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  be the local ring at P and  $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  be its maximal ideal. Then by our choice of  $\mathscr{X}, \mathfrak{m}_{\mathscr{X},P} = (\pi_1, \pi_2)$ , where  $\pi_1$  is a prime defining  $\eta_1$  at  $P, \lambda = u\pi_1^r\pi_2^s$  for some unit  $u \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  and integers r, s, and all  $L_i \otimes_F F_P/F_P$  are unramified on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2$ . Since  $L_i/F$  are Galois extensions,  $L_i \otimes_F F_P = \prod (L_i)_P$  for some Galois extensions  $(L_i)_P/F_P$ . Since  $L_i \otimes_F F_P/F_P$  is unramified on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$  except possibly at  $\pi_1, \pi_2$ . Since  $\lambda$  is a lift of  $x \in \prod_X (F, T_{L/F}), \lambda$  is a product of norms from  $L_i \otimes_F F_{\eta_1}/F_{\eta_1}$ . Since  $F_{\eta_1} \subset F_{P,\eta_1}, \lambda$  is a product of norms from  $L_i \otimes_F F_{\eta_1}/F_{P,\eta_1}$ . Hence  $\lambda$  is a product of norms from  $(L_i)_P \otimes F_{P,\eta_1}/F_{P,\eta_1}$ . Thus, by Theorem 5.1.2,  $\lambda$  is a product of norms from  $(L_i)_P/F_P$  and x maps to 0 in  $H^1(F_P, T_{L/F})$ . Therefore  $x \in \prod_X (F, T_{L/F})$ . By ([HHK15a, Proposition 8.2.]), we have  $\prod(F, T_{L/F}) = \bigcup_X \prod_X (F, T_{L/F})$ , where X runs over the reduced special fibres of regular proper models of F.

Remark 5.1.4. The proof of Theorem 5.1.3 also works if we just consider divisorial discrete valuations instead of considering all discrete valuations on F.

### 5.2 Local-Global Principle

We will be using the following notation throughout this section.

**Notation 5.2.1.** For a semi-global field F and field extensions  $L_i/F$ , we use  $L_{i,\eta}$ ,  $L_{i,P}$ ,  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  and  $L_{i,P,U}$  to denote  $L_i \otimes_F F_{\eta}$ ,  $L_i \otimes_F F_P$ ,  $L_i \otimes_F F_{P,\eta}$ , and  $L_i \otimes_F F_{P,U}$  respectively.

# 5.2.1 Multinorm tori associated to two degree p cyclic extensions

Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K and let  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  be two cyclic extensions of F each of degree p for some prime p. Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$  and  $T_{L/F}$  denote the associated multinorm torus. Assume that  $\kappa$  is either algebraically closed or a finite field. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa)$ . Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F. We prove that for any branch  $F_{P,\eta}$ ,  $T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R = \{1\}$ . Using this, we conclude that over semi-global fields, the local-global principle holds for such multinorm tori with respect to discrete valuations.

We start with a basic result about multinorm tori over arbitrary fields.

**Lemma 5.2.2.** Let  $L_i, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , be finite separable extensions of a given field F with  $[L_i: F] = n_i$ . Let  $n := lcm(n_i \mid 1 \leq i \leq m)$ . Let  $L = \prod_{i=1}^{m} L_i$ . Let  $\alpha_i \in F^{\times}$  for all  $i, 1 \leq i \leq m-1$ . Then the element

$$(\alpha_1^{n/n_1}, \alpha_2^{n/n_2}, \dots, \alpha_{m-1}^{n/n_{m-1}}, \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \alpha_i^{-n/n_m}) \in T_{L/F}(F)$$

actually belongs to  $RT_{L/F}(F)$ .

*Proof.* Let us consider  $f(t) \in T_{L/F}(F(t))$  given by

$$f(t) = \left( \left(\frac{t+\alpha_1}{t+1}\right)^{n/n_1}, \left(\frac{t+\alpha_2}{t+1}\right)^{n/n_2}, \dots, \left(\frac{t+\alpha_{m-1}}{t+1}\right)^{n/n_{m-1}}, \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \left(\frac{t+1}{t+\alpha_i}\right)^{n/n_m} \right).$$

Then for t = 0, we get

$$f(0) = (\alpha_1^{n/n_1}, \alpha_2^{n/n_2}, \dots, \alpha_{m-1}^{n/n_{m-1}}, \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \alpha_i^{-n/n_m})$$

and for  $t = \infty$ , we get  $f(\infty) = (1, 1, ..., 1)$ .

Hence 
$$(\alpha_1^{n/n_1}, \alpha_2^{n/n_2}, \dots, \alpha_{m-1}^{n/n_{m-1}}, \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \alpha_i^{-n/n_m})$$
 belongs to  $RT_{L/F}(F)$ .

Now we study R-trivial elements of  $T_{L/F}(F)$  for complete discretely valued fields F where L is product of two degree p cyclic extensions.

**Lemma 5.2.3.** Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let  $L_1/F$  be a degree p unramified cyclic extension and  $L_2/F$ be a degree p ramified cyclic extension. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa)$ . Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$ . Then  $T_{L/F}(F)/R = \{1\}$ .

Proof. We can write  $L_2 = F(\sqrt[p]{\pi})$  where  $\pi$  is a parameter in F. Then  $\pi$  is also a parameter in  $L_1$ . Let  $(\mu_1, \mu_2) \in T_{L/F}(F)$ . We can write  $\mu_1 = u_1 \pi^{q_1}$  and  $\mu_2 = u_2(\sqrt[p]{\pi})^{q_2}$  where  $u_1 \in L_1$  and  $u_2 \in L_2$  are units and  $q_1, q_2$  are integers. We have  $1 = N_{L_1/F}(\mu_1)N_{L_2/F}(\mu_2) = N_{L_1/F}(u_1)\pi^{pq_1}N_{L_2/F}(u_2)(-1)^{n_pq_2}\pi^{q_2}$  where  $n_p = 1$  if p = 2 and  $n_p = 2$  if p > 2. Then  $q_2 = -pq_1$ . Also,  $(-1)^{n_pq_2} = 1$  for any prime p.

By Lemma 5.2.2,  $(\pi^{q_1}, \pi^{-q_1}) \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ . Thus it is enough to consider the case when  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  are units in  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  respectively. Furthermore, since  $L_2/F$  is totally ramified, we have  $\mu_2 = \mu_3^p \mu_4$  where  $\mu_3 \in L_2$  is a unit and  $\mu_4 \in F$  is a unit. We have  $1 = N_{L_1/F}(\mu_1)[N_{L_2/F}(\mu_3)\mu_4]^p$ . Let  $\alpha = N_{L_2/F}(\mu_3)\mu_4 \in F$ . Then  $(\alpha, \alpha^{-1}) \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ . Hence  $(\mu_1\alpha, \mu_3^p\mu_4\alpha^{-1})$  is *R*-equivalent to  $(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ . We have  $N_{L_1/F}(\mu_1\alpha) = 1$  and  $N_{L_2/F}(\mu_3^p\mu_4\alpha^{-1}) =$ 1. Now, since  $L_1/F$  and  $L_2/F$  are cyclic extensions, by Lemma 2.4.2,  $T_{L_1/F}(F)/R = \{1\}$  and  $T_{L_2/F}(F)/R = \{1\}$ . Thus  $(\mu_1\alpha, \mu_3^p\mu_4\alpha^{-1})$  is in  $RT_{L/F}(F)$  and we are done.

**Lemma 5.2.4.** Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let  $L_1/F$  and  $L_2/F$  be two degree p ramified cyclic extensions. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa)$ . Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$ . Then  $T_{L/F}(F)/R = \{1\}$ .

Proof. Let  $\pi$  be a parameter in F. Then we can write  $L_1 = F(\sqrt[p]{\pi})$  and  $L_2 = F(\sqrt[p]{\nu\pi})$  for some unit  $v \in F^{\times}$ . We can assume that  $v \notin F^{\times p}$  otherwise both extensions are isomorphic and by Proposition 2.4.3,  $T_{L/F}(F)/R \simeq T_{L_1/F}(F)/R$ . By Lemma 2.4.2, since  $L_1/F$  is cyclic, we have  $T_{L_1/F}(F)/R = \{1\}$ . Hence we are done.

Let  $(\mu_1, \mu_2) \in T_{L/F}(F)$ . We can write  $\mu_1 = u_1(\sqrt[p]{\pi})^{q_1}$  and  $\mu_2 = u_2(\sqrt[p]{v\pi})^{q_2}$ where  $u_1 \in L_1$  and  $u_2 \in L_2$  are units and  $q_1, q_2$  are integers. We have  $1 = N_{L_1/F}(u_1)(-1)^{n_pq_1}\pi^{q_1}N_{L_2/F}(u_2)(-1)^{n_pq_2}v^{q_2}\pi^{q_2}$ . We get that  $q_2 = -q_1$ . Consequently,  $(-1)^{n_pq_1}(-1)^{n_pq_2} = 1$ . Also, since the extensions are totally ramified,  $N_{L_1/F}(u_1), N_{L_2/F}(u_2) \in F^{\times p}$ . Hence  $v^{q_2} \in F^{\times p}$  and p divides  $q_2$ since  $v \notin F^{\times p}$ . Let  $q_1 = pq$  for some integer q.

By Lemma 5.2.2,  $((v\pi)^q, (v\pi)^{-q}) \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ . Thus it is enough to show that  $(\mu_1(v\pi)^{-q}, \mu_2(v\pi)^q) = (u_1v^q, u_2) \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ . Thus we can assume that  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  are units in  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  respectively. Furthermore, since  $L_2/F$  is totally ramified, we have  $\mu_2 = \mu_3^p \mu_4$  where  $\mu_3 \in L_2$  is a unit and  $\mu_4 \in F$  is a unit. Continuing as in the proof of Lemma 5.2.3, we get that  $(\mu_1, \mu_2) \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ .

For the next lemma, we assume that the field F is complete discretely valued with residue field again a complete discretely valued field. Thus, we can apply this lemma to the branch fields  $F_{P,n}$ .

**Lemma 5.2.5.** Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  a complete discretely valued field. Assume that  $\kappa'$ , the residue field of  $\kappa$ , is algebraically closed or a finite field. Let  $L_1/F$  and  $L_2/F$  be two unramified cyclic extensions of degree p. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa')$ . Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$ . Then  $T_{L/F}(F)/R = \{1\}$ .

Proof. We first consider the case when  $\kappa'$  is algebraically closed. The unramified cyclic extensions L/F of degree p are in one-to-one correspondence with cyclic extensions  $l/\kappa$  of degree p, where l is the residue field of L ([Mil, Proposition 7.50, p-126]). Since  $\kappa'$  is algebraically closed, there is a unique cyclic extension of  $\kappa$  of degree pThus, in this case, there is only one unramified cyclic extension of F of degree p upto isomorphism. Hence, by Proposition 2.4.3,  $T_{L/F}(F)/R \simeq T_{L_1/F}(F)/R = \{1\}$ .

Now assume that  $\kappa'$  is a finite field.Let  $\pi \in F^{\times}$  be a parameter. Then  $\pi$  is also a parameter in  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ . Let  $(\mu_1, \mu_2) \in T_{L/F}(F)$ . We can write  $\mu_i = u_i \pi^{q_i}$  for some units  $u_i \in L_i$  and some integers  $q_i$  for i = 1, 2. Then  $1 = N_{L_1/F}(u_1)\pi^{pq_1}N_{L_2/F}(u_2)\pi^{pq_2}$ . Then  $pq_1 = -pq_2$ , hence  $q_1 = -q_2 = q(say)$ . By Lemma 5.2.2,  $(\pi^q, \pi^{-q}) \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ . Hence, we can assume that  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  are units.

Let  $l_1$  and  $l_2$  denote the residue fields of  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  respectively. Let  $l = l_1 \times l_2$ . We want to show  $(\mu_1, \mu_2) \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ . By [Gil04, Proposition 2.2.], it is enough to show that  $T_{l/\kappa}(\kappa)/R = \{1\}$ .

Suppose at least one of the extensions  $l_1/\kappa$  or  $l_2/\kappa$  is totally ramified. Then by Lemma 5.2.3 and Lemma 5.2.4, we get that  $T_{l/\kappa}(\kappa)/R = \{1\}$ .

Suppose that  $l_1/\kappa$  and  $l_2/\kappa$  are both unramified, then they are both isomorphic since  $\kappa'$  is a finite field. Hence, again by Proposition 2.4.3, we conclude that  $T_{l/\kappa}(\kappa)/R = \{1\}$ .

**Proposition 5.2.6.** Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  a complete discretely valued field. Assume that  $\kappa'$ , the residue field of  $\kappa$ , is algebraically closed or a finite field. Let  $L_1/F$  and  $L_2/F$  be two cyclic extensions of degree p. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa')$ . Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$ . Then  $T_{L/F}(F)/R = \{1\}$ .

*Proof.* The proof follows from Lemma 5.2.3, Lemma 5.2.4 and Lemma 5.2.5.

**Corollary 5.2.7.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Assume that  $\kappa$  is either algebraically closed or a finite field. Let  $L_1, L_2$  be two degree p cyclic extensions of F. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa)$ . Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$ . Then for any regular proper model  $\mathscr{X}$  and any choice of  $\mathcal{P}$ ,  $\coprod_{\mathcal{P}}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$  and  $\coprod_X(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F and X be the special fibre. Let  $(P, \eta)$  be a branch. We can assume that both  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  are fields for i = 1, 2. Otherwise, if  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  is not a field for some i, then  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  is a product of p copies of  $F_{P,\eta}$ . Thus, in this case, we get that  $T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R = \{1\}$  by Lemma 2.4.6. Then by Proposition 5.2.6, we get that for any branch  $(P, \eta), T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R = \{1\}$ . Hence, for any choice of  $\mathcal{P}, \coprod_{\mathcal{P}}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$  by [CTHH<sup>+</sup>19, Theorem 3.1.]. Thus  $III_X(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$  by [HHK15a, Corollary 5.9.].

As a consequence, we have the following theorem:

**Theorem 5.2.8.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Assume that  $\kappa$  is either algebraically closed or a finite field. Let  $L_1, L_2$  be two degree p cyclic extensions of F. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa)$ . Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$ . Then  $III(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* The result follows from Corollary 5.2.7 and Theorem 5.1.3.

*Remark* 5.2.9. We note that we do not need any assumptions on the graph associated to the semi-global field F here.

#### 5.2.2 More general multinorm tori

Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  algebraically closed. Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $T_{L/F}$  be the multinorm torus associated to cyclic extensions  $L_i/F$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$  with degrees  $[L_i: F]$  prime. We study  $T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R$  for branches  $(P, \eta)$ .

**Notation 5.2.10.** For a discrete valuation  $\nu$  on F, let  $F_{\nu,h}$  be the henselization of F at  $\nu$ .

We start with some results concerning tori defined over semi-global fields.

**Lemma 5.2.11.** Let T be a torus defined over a semi-global field F. Suppose that:

- a) the natural map T(F<sub>η,h</sub>) → T(F<sub>η</sub>)/R is surjective for all codimension zero points η of X, and,
- b) the natural map  $T(F_P) \to T(F_{P,\eta})/R$  is surjective for all branches  $(P,\eta)$ .

Then for all proper open subsets U of  $X_{\eta}$ , the map  $T(F_U) \to T(F_{\eta})/R$  is surjective.

*Proof.* Let U be a proper open subset of  $X_{\eta}$  and  $\mu \in T(F_{\eta})$ . Then by the assumption a), there exists  $\mu_h \in T(F_{\eta,h})$  which maps to  $\mu$  in  $T(F_{\eta})/R$ . Thus, replacing  $\mu$  by  $\mu_h$ , we may assume that  $\mu \in T(F_{\eta,h})$ . Since, by [HHK14, Lemma 3.2.1.], the field  $F_{\eta,h}$  is the filtered direct limit of the fields  $F_V$ , where V ranges over the nonempty open proper subsets of  $X_{\eta}$ , there exists a nonempty open proper subset V of  $X_{\eta}$  such that  $\mu \in T(F_V)$ . By taking intersection with U, if needed, we may assume that  $V \subseteq U$ . If V = U, there is nothing to prove. Suppose that  $V \neq U$ . Let  $P \in U \setminus V$ . By assumption, the map  $T(F_P) \to T(F_{P,n})/R$  is surjective. Let  $\mu_P$  be an element in  $T(F_P)$  mapping to the class of  $\mu$  in  $T(F_{P,\eta})/R$ . Then  $\mu = \mu_P \alpha_{P,\eta}$  for some  $\alpha_{P,\eta} \in RT(F_{P,\eta})$ . By Lemma 2.4.11, there exists  $\alpha_V \in RT(F_V)$  and  $\alpha_P \in RT(F_P)$  with  $\alpha_{P,\eta} = \alpha_P \alpha_V$  in  $RT(F_{P,\eta})$ . Then  $\mu = \mu_P \alpha_P \alpha_V$ . Hence  $\mu \alpha_V^{-1} = \mu_P \alpha_P \in T(F_V) \cap T(F_P)$ . By [HHK15b, Lemma 2.12.] and [HHK15b, Proposition 3.9.],  $\mu \alpha_V^{-1} \in T(F_{V \cup \{P\}})$ . Also,  $\mu \alpha_V^{-1}$  maps to the equivalence class of  $\mu$  in  $T(F_n)/R$  since  $\alpha_V \in RT(F_V) \subseteq$  $RT(F_{\eta})$ . Since  $U \setminus V$  is a finite set, doing this process finitely many times, we get the result.

**Lemma 5.2.12.** Let T be a torus defined over a semi-global field F. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F and X be the reduced special fiber. Let  $\eta \in X$  be a codimension zero point. Suppose that :

- the natural map  $T(F_{\eta,h}) \to T(F_{\eta})/R$  is surjective, and,
- for every closed point P of  $X_{\eta}$ , the natural maps  $T(F_{\eta}) \to T(F_{P,\eta})/R$ and  $T(F_P) \to T(F_{P,\eta})/R$  are surjective.

Then for any proper open subset U of  $X_{\eta}$ , the natural map

$$T(F_U) \to T(F_{P,\eta})/R$$

is surjective.

*Proof.* The proof follows immediately from Lemma 5.2.11 since the natural map  $T(F_U) \to T(F_{P,\eta})/R$  factors through  $T(F_{\eta})/R$ .

**Proposition 5.2.13.** Let F be a semi-global field with a regular proper model  $\mathscr{X}$  and the special fibre X. Let T be a torus defined over F. Assume that:

- the graph associated to F is a tree,
- the natural map  $T(F_{\eta,h}) \to T(F_{\eta})/R$  is surjective,

• the natural map  $T(F_{\eta}) \to T(F_{P,\eta})/R$  is surjective for all possible  $\eta$  and branches  $(P, \eta)$  and all choices of  $\mathcal{P}$ , and

• the natural map  $T(F_P) \to T(F_{P,\eta})/R$  is surjective for all possible Pand branches  $(P,\eta)$  and all choices of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Then  $\coprod_X(F,T) = 0.$ 

*Proof.* By [HHK15a, Corollary 5.9.], we just need to show that for every choice of  $\mathcal{P}$ ,  $\coprod_{\mathcal{P}}(F,T)$  is trivial. This immediately follows from Lemma 5.2.12 and Corollary 3.3.4.

**Lemma 5.2.14.** Let F be a field. Let  $T_{L/F}$  be the multinorm torus associated to finite separable extensions  $L_i/F$  for  $1 \le i \le m$  with  $[L_i: F] = n_i$ . Let  $n := lcm(n_i \mid 1 \le i \le m)$ . Assume that:

• for all  $(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_m) \in T_{L/F}(M)$ , there exists  $(\mu'_1, \ldots, \mu'_m) \in T_{L/F}(F)$ such that  $N_{L_i \otimes_F M/M}(\mu_i \mu_i^{'-1}) \in M^{\times n}$ .

• The natural maps

$$T_{L_i/F}(F) \to T_{L_i/F}(M)/R$$

are surjective for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ .

Then the natural map  $T_{L/F}(F) \to T_{L/F}(M)/R$  is surjective.

*Proof.* Let  $(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_m) \in T_{L/F}(M)$ . Then by assumption, there exists  $(\mu'_1, \ldots, \mu'_m) \in T_{L/F}(F)$  with  $N_{L_i \otimes_F M/M}(\mu_i \mu'^{-1}) = \alpha_i^n$  for some  $\alpha_i \in M$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ .

Let us consider  $x_i = \mu_i \mu_i^{\prime -1}$ . Then it is enough to show that the class of  $(x_1, \ldots, x_m)$  is in the image of the map  $T_{L/F}(F) \to T_{L/F}(M)/R$ .

Now we consider

$$(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_{m-1}, \beta_m) = (\alpha_1^{n/n_1}, \alpha_2^{n/n_2}, \dots, \alpha_{m-1}^{n/n_{m-1}}, \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \alpha_i^{-n/n_m})$$

in  $T_{L/F}(M)$ . Then by Lemma 5.2.2,  $(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m) \in RT_{L/F}(M)$ . Thus, it is enough to show that the class of  $(x_1\beta_1^{-1}, \ldots, x_m\beta_m^{-1})$  lies in the image of the map  $T_{L/F}(F) \to T_{L/F}(M)/R$ . For  $1 \leq i \leq m$ ,  $x_i\beta_i^{-1} \in T_{L_i/F}(M)$ . Now, by assumption, there exists  $\gamma_i \in T_{L_i/F}(F)$  mapping to the class of  $x_i\beta_i^{-1} \in T_{L_i/F}(M)/R$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ . Then  $(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_m)$  maps to the class of  $(x_1\beta_1^{-1}, \ldots, x_m\beta_m^{-1})$  in  $T_{L/F}(M)/R$ . Hence we are done.

**Lemma 5.2.15.** Let F be a Henselian discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and with completion  $\hat{F}$ . Assume that F has a primitive root of unity  $\rho_{n^2}$ . Let L/F be a finite separable field extension of degree n which is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ). Let  $T_{L/F}$  be the associated norm one torus. Then the natural map

$$T_{L/F}(F) \to T_{L/F}(\hat{F})/R$$

is surjective.

Proof. Since F is Henselian, L is also Henselian and  $L \otimes_F \hat{F}$  is a field and completion of L. Let  $u \in T_{L/F}(\hat{F})$ . Then u is a unit. Let  $v \in L$  be close to u in  $L \otimes_F \hat{F}$ . Since n is coprime to  $\operatorname{char}(\kappa)$ , we have  $u = va^{n^2}$  for some  $a \in L \otimes_F \hat{F}$ . Since  $N_{L/F}(v)[N_{L\otimes_F \hat{F}}(a)]^{n^2} = N_{L\otimes_F \hat{F}}(u) = 1$ ,  $N_{L/F}(v) \in \hat{F}^{\times n^2}$ . Since F is Henselian, there exists  $b \in F$  such that  $N_{L/F}(v) = b^{n^2}$ . Then  $N_{L/F}(vb^{-n}) = 1$ . We have  $u(vb^{-n})^{-1} = (a^nb^{-1})^n \in T_{L/F}(\hat{F})$ . Since  $N_{L\otimes_F \hat{F}}(a^nb^{-1})^n = 1$ , we have  $N_{L\otimes_F \hat{F}}(a^nb^{-1}) = \rho_{n^2}^{ni}$  for some i,  $0 \leq i \leq n-1$ . Then  $N_{L\otimes_F \hat{F}}(a^nb^{-1}\rho_{n^2}^{-i}) = 1$ . Let us consider  $w = vb^{-n}\rho_{n^2}^{-i}$ . Then  $w \in T_{L/F}(F)$  and  $uw^{-1} = (a^nb^{-1}\rho_{n^2}^{-i})^n$ . Since  $(a^nb^{-1}\rho_{n^2}^{-i})^n \in RT_{L/F}(\hat{F})$ [CTS77, Proposition 15], we conclude that  $uw^{-1} \in RT_{L/F}(\hat{F})$  and hence we are done.

**Lemma 5.2.16.** Let F be a Henselian discretely valued field and  $\hat{F}$  be its completion. Let  $\kappa$  be the residue field of F. Let  $L_1, L_2, \ldots, L_m$  be finite separable extensions of F with  $[L_i: F] = n_i$ . Assume that F has all primitive  $n_i^2$ -th roots of unity for all  $i, 1 \leq i \leq m$ . Assume that all  $n_i$  are coprime to char( $\kappa$ ). Let  $L = \prod_{i=1}^{m} L_i$ .

Then

$$T_{L/F}(F) \to T_{L/F}(\hat{F})/R$$

is surjective.

Proof. Let 
$$\mu \in T_{L/F}(\hat{F})/R$$
. Then  $\mu = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_m)$  with  $\mu_i \in L_i \otimes_F \hat{F}$   
and  $\prod_{i=1}^m N_{L_i \otimes_F \hat{F}/\hat{F}}(\mu_i) = 1$ . Let  $n = \operatorname{lcm}(n_i \mid 1 \le i \le m)$ .

We first show that for all  $(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_m) \in T_{L/F}(\hat{F})$ , there exists  $(\mu'_1, \ldots, \mu'_m) \in T_{L/F}(F)$  such that  $N_{L_i \otimes_F \hat{F}/\hat{F}}(\mu_i \mu'^{-1}_i) \in \hat{F}^{\times n}$ . Since  $L_i \otimes_F \hat{F}$  is the completion of  $L_i$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m-1$ , there exists  $\mu'_i \in L_i$  with  $\mu_i = \mu'_i \theta^n_i$  for some  $\theta_i \in (L_i \otimes_F \hat{F})^{\times n}$ . Let  $\lambda = \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} N_{L_i/F}(\mu'_i) \in F$ . Since  $\lambda \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} N_{L_i \otimes_F \hat{F}/\hat{F}}(\theta_i)^n = \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} N_{L_i \otimes_F \hat{F}/\hat{F}}(\mu_i) = N_{L_m \otimes_F \hat{F}/\hat{F}}(\mu_m)^{-1}$ ,  $\lambda$  is a

norm from  $L_m \otimes_F \hat{F}/\hat{F}$ . Since F is Henselian and  $\hat{F}$  is the completion of F,  $\lambda$  is a norm from  $L_m/F$  by [Art69, Thm 2.2.1]. Let  $\mu'_m \in L_m$  with  $N_{L_m/\hat{F}}(\mu'_m) = \lambda$ . Then  $\mu' = (\mu'_1, \ldots, \mu'_m) \in T_{L/F}(F)$  and  $N_{L_i \otimes_F \hat{F}/\hat{F}}(\mu_i \mu'^{-1}_i) \in \hat{F}^{\times n}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ .

Now, by Lemma 5.2.15, we get that the maps  $T_{L_i/F}(F) \to T_{L_i/F}(\hat{F})/R$ are surjective for all  $i, 1 \leq i \leq m$ . Hence, by Lemma 5.2.14,  $T_{L/F}(F) \to T_{L/F}(\hat{F})/R$  is surjective.

Remark 5.2.17. If all the extensions  $L_i/F$ ,  $1 \le i \le m$  are cyclic of degree  $n_i$ , then we do not need to assume that F has all primitive  $n_i^2$ -th roots of unity for all  $i, 1 \le i \le m$ . Since, by Lemma 2.4.2,  $T_{L_i/F}(\hat{F})/R = \{1\}$ .

**Lemma 5.2.18.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$ . Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F and X be the reduced special fibre. Let  $\mathcal{P} \in X$  be a nonempty finite set of closed points containing all the intersection points. Let  $\eta$  be the generic point of one of the components of X and let  $(P, \eta)$  be a branch. Let  $L_{\eta}/F_{\eta}$  be a field extension of degree n with n coprime to char $(\kappa)$ . Assume that  $L_{P,\eta} = L_{\eta} \otimes_F F_{p,\eta}$  is a field. Then for any  $\lambda \in N_{L_{P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}}((L_{P,\eta})^{\times})$  and an integer N coprime to char $(\kappa)$ , there exists a  $\lambda' \in N_{L_{\eta}/F_{\eta}}((L_{\eta})^{\times})$  such that  $\lambda \lambda'^{-1}$  is a N<sup>th</sup> power in  $F_{P,\eta}^{\times}$ . Proof. Let  $\pi \in F_{\eta}$  be a parameter. Since  $L_{\eta}/L_{\eta}^{nr}$  is totally ramified, we can write  $L_{\eta}$  as  $L_{\eta} = L_{\eta}^{nr}(\sqrt[e]{u\pi})$ , where u is a unit in  $L_{\eta}^{nr}$  ([CF67, Proposition 1, p-32]). Then  $L_{P,\eta} = L_{P,\eta}^{nr}(\sqrt[e]{u\pi})$ .

Let  $L(\eta)$  and  $F(\eta)$  denote the residue field of  $L_{\eta}$  and  $F_{\eta}$  respectively. Similarly,  $L(P, \eta)$  and  $F(P, \eta)$  denote the residue field of  $L_{P,\eta}$  and  $F_{P,\eta}$ respectively. Then  $F(P, \eta)$  and  $L(P, \eta)$  are completions of  $F(\eta)$  and  $L(\eta)$ respectively. Let  $L_{\eta}^{nr}$  and  $L_{P,\eta}^{nr}$  be the maximal unramifield subextensions of  $L_{\eta}/F_{\eta}$  and  $L_{P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}$  respectively. Since  $[L_{P,\eta}: L_{P,\eta}^{nr}] = [L_{\eta}: L_{\eta}^{nr}] = e$ and  $[L_{P,\eta}: F_{P,\eta}] = n = [L_{\eta}: F_{\eta}]$ , we get that  $[L(\eta): F(\eta)] = [L_{\eta}^{nr}: F_{\eta}] =$  $n/e = [L_{P,\eta}^{nr}: F_{P,\eta}] = [L(P, \eta): F(P, \eta)].$ 

Let  $\mu \in L_{P,\eta}^{\times}$  with  $\lambda = N_{L_{P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}}(\mu)$ . Then we can write  $\mu = \theta(\sqrt[e]{u\pi})^i$ , where  $\theta \in L_{P,\eta}$  is a unit and *i* is an integer. Since  $L_{P,\eta}$  and  $L_{P,\eta}^{nr}$  have same residue field  $L(P,\eta)$ , and since *N* is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ), by Hensel's lemma, there exists  $\theta'$  a unit in  $L_{P,\eta}^{nr}$  and  $\alpha \in L_{P,\eta}$  with  $\theta = \theta'(\alpha)^N$ . Hence without loss of generality we can assume that  $\theta \in L_{P,\eta}^{nr}$ . We have

$$\begin{aligned} \lambda &= N_{L_{P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}}(\mu) &= [N_{L_{P,\eta}^{nr}/F_{P,\eta}}(\theta)]^{e} [N_{L_{P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}}(\sqrt[e]{u\pi})]^{i} \\ &= [N_{L_{P,\eta}^{nr}/F_{P,\eta}}(\theta)]^{e} [N_{L_{\eta}/F_{\eta}}(\sqrt[e]{u\pi})]^{i}. \end{aligned}$$

Let  $\overline{\theta}$  be the image of  $\theta$  in the residue field  $L(P,\eta)$ . We have  $\overline{N_{L_{P,\eta}^{nr}/F_{P,\eta}}(\theta)} = N_{L(P,\eta)/F(P,\eta)}(\overline{\theta}) \in F(P,\eta)$ . Since  $L(P,\eta)$  is completion of  $L(\eta)$  and by Hensel's lemma, there exists  $\overline{\phi} \in L(\eta)$  such that  $\overline{\theta} \cdot \overline{\phi}^{-1}$  is a  $N^{\text{th}}$  power in  $L(P,\eta)$ . Let  $\phi \in L_{\eta}^{nr}$  such that  $\overline{\phi}$  is the image of  $\phi$  in  $L(\eta)$ . Then  $N_{L(\eta)/F(\eta)}(\overline{\phi}) = \overline{N_{L_{\eta}^{nr}/F_{\eta}}(\phi)}$ . We get that  $\overline{N_{L_{P,\eta}^{nr}/F_{P,\eta}}(\theta\phi^{-1})}$  is a  $N^{\text{th}}$  power in  $F(P,\eta)$ . Hence, by Hensel's lemma,

$$N_{L_{P,\eta}^{nr}/F_{P,\eta}}(\theta\phi^{-1}) = N_{L_{P,\eta}^{nr}/F_{P,\eta}}(\theta) [N_{L_{\eta}^{nr}/F_{\eta}}(\phi)]^{-1}$$

is a  $N^{\text{th}}$  power in  $F(P, \eta)$ . Now  $\lambda' = N_{L_{\eta}^{nr}/F_{\eta}}(\phi)$  has the desired property.

**Lemma 5.2.19.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Assume that  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed. Assume that  $L_i/F, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , are cyclic extensions with  $[L_i : F] = p$ , where p is a prime number. Assume that  $p \neq char(\kappa)$ . Let  $T_{L/F}$  denote the multinorm torus associated to the extensions  $L_i/F$ . Let  $\eta$  be the generic point of one of the components of  $X \setminus \mathcal{P}$  and let  $(P, \eta)$  be a branch. Assume that for at least one i,  $L_{i,P,\eta} = L_i \otimes_F F_{P,\eta}$  is unramified over  $F_{P,\eta}$ . Then the natural map

$$T_{L/F}(F_{\eta}) \to T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R$$

is surjective.

*Proof.* We can assume that all  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  are fields. Otherwise, if  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  is not a field for some i, then  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  is a product of two copies of  $F_{P,\eta}$ . Thus, in this case, we get that  $T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R = \{1\}$  by Lemma 2.4.6. Hence the conclusion of the lemma holds.

Let  $(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_{m-1}, \mu_m) \in T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})$ . Let  $\lambda_i = N_{L_{i,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}}(\mu_i)$  for all i,  $1 \leq i \leq m$ . Then  $\prod_{i=1}^m \lambda_i = 1$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that the extension  $L_{m,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}$  is unramified. Let  $\pi \in F_\eta$  be a parameter. Then  $\pi$  is also a parameter in  $F_{P,\eta}$  and  $L_{m,P,\eta}$ . By Lemma 5.2.18, for  $i, 1 \leq i \leq m-1$ , we can find  $\mu'_i \in L_{i,\eta}$  with such that  $\lambda_i [N_{L_{i,\eta}/F_\eta}(\mu'_i)]^{-1} = \alpha_i^p$  for some  $\alpha_i \in F_{P,\eta}^{\times}$ . For  $1 \leq i \leq m-1$ , let  $\lambda'_i = N_{L_{i,\eta}/F_\eta}(\mu'_i)$ . Since  $\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \lambda_i = (\lambda_m)^{-1}$  and  $\lambda_m = N_{L_{m,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}}(\mu_m)$ , pdivides  $\operatorname{val}_{\pi}(\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \lambda_i)$  where  $\operatorname{val}_{\pi}$  denotes the valuation on  $F_{P,\eta}$  with parameter  $\pi$ . Since, for  $1 \leq i \leq m-1$ ,  $\lambda_i \lambda'_i^{-1} = \alpha_i^p$  with  $\alpha_i \in F_{P,\eta}^{\times}$ , p also divides  $\operatorname{val}_{\pi}(\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \lambda'_i^{-1})$ .

Let  $F(\eta)$  and  $F(m,\eta)$  be the residue field of  $F_{\eta}$  and  $L_{m,\eta}$  respectively. Since  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed,  $F(\eta)$  is a  $C_1$  field([GS06, Thm 6.2.8, p-143]). Thus the norm map  $N_{L(m,\eta)/F(\eta)}$  is surjective. Hence the norm map  $N_{L_{m,\eta}/F_{\eta}}$  is surjective on units. Since p divides  $\operatorname{val}_{\pi}(\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \lambda'^{-1})$ , we can find a  $\mu'_m \in L^{\times}_{m,\eta}$  with  $N_{L_{m,\eta}/F_{\eta}}(\mu'_m) = \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \lambda'^{-1}$ . Then  $(\mu'_1, \ldots, \mu'_m) \in T_{L/F}(F_{\eta})$  and  $N_{L_{i,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}}(\mu_i \mu'^{-1}_i) \in F_{P,\eta}^{\times p}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ . Also, since the extensions  $L_{i,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}$  are cyclic,  $T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R = \{1\}$  by Lemma 2.4.2. Hence, the result follows by Lemma 5.2.14.

**Lemma 5.2.20.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Assume that  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed. Assume that  $L_i/F, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , are quadratic cyclic extensions. Assume that char( $\kappa$ )  $\neq 2$ . Let  $T_{L/F}$  denote the multinorm torus associated to the extensions  $L_i/F$ . Let  $\eta$  be the generic point of one of the components of  $X \setminus \mathcal{P}$  and let  $(P, \eta)$  be a branch. Then the natural map

$$T_{L/F}(F_{\eta}) \to T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R$$

is surjective.

*Proof.* We can assume that all  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  are fields. Otherwise, if  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  is not a field for some *i*, then  $L_{i,P,\eta}$  is a product of two copies of  $F_{P,\eta}$ . Thus, in this case, we get that  $T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R = \{1\}$  by Lemma 2.4.6. Hence the conclusion of the lemma holds.

Let  $\pi \in F_{\eta}$  be a parameter. Then  $\pi$  is also a parameter in  $F_{P,\eta}$ . Let  $\delta$  be a parameter in  $\kappa(\eta)$ , the residue field of  $F_{\eta}$ . Then  $\delta$  is also a parameter in the residue field of  $F_{P,\eta}$ .

**Case A** Let us assume that at least one of the extensions  $L_{i,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}$  is unramified. Then we have the result by Lemma 5.2.19.

**Case B** Now we assume that all the extensions  $L_{i,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}$  are ramified. There are only two non-isomorphic quadratic cyclic extensions of  $F_{P,\eta}$  that are ramified, given by  $F_{P,\eta}(\sqrt{\pi})$  and  $F_{P,\eta}(\sqrt{\delta\pi})$ . In this case, by Proposition 2.4.5, it is enough to consider the case when m = 2 and  $L_{1,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}$  and  $L_{2,P,\eta}/F_{P,\eta}$  are both ramified quadratic cyclic extensions. In this case, by Lemma 5.2.4, we have  $T_{L/F}(F_{P,\eta})/R = \{1\}$ .

**Lemma 5.2.21.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Assume that  $L_i/, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , are finite Galois extensions of degree  $n_i$ , where  $n_i$  is a natural number coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $T_{L/F}$  denote the multinorm torus associated to the extensions  $L_i/F$ . Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F such that the union of  $ram_{\mathscr{X}}(L_i/F)$ and the reduced special fibre X is a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Assume that the natural maps

$$T_{L_i/F}(F_P) \rightarrow T_{L_i/F}(F_{P,U})/R$$

are surjective for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ . Let (P, U) be a branch.

Then the natural map

$$T_{L/F}(F_P) \to T_{L/F}(F_{P,U})/R$$

is surjective.

Proof. Let  $\mu_i \in L_{i,P,U}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$  with  $N_{L_{i,P,U}/F_{P,U}}(\mu_i) = \lambda_i$  such that  $\prod_{i=1}^m \lambda_i = 1$ . Let  $n := \operatorname{lcm}(n_i \mid 1 \leq i \leq m)$ . By Lemma 4.2.7, we can write  $\lambda_i = \lambda'_i \cdot (\alpha_i)^n$  for some  $\alpha_i \in F_{P,U}$ , where  $\lambda'_i = u_i \pi_1^{s_i} \pi_2^{t_i}$  for some  $u_i \in F_P$ and integers  $s_i, t_i$ . By Theorem 4.2.9, we can choose  $\mu'_i \in L_{i,P}$  with  $N_{L_{i,P}/F_P}(\mu'_i) = \lambda'_i$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m-1$ . Similarly, we choose  $\mu'_m \in L_{m,P}$  with  $N_{L_{m,P}/F_P}(\mu'_m) = (\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \lambda'_i)^{-1}$ . Then  $(\mu'_1, \mu'_2, \ldots, \mu'_m) \in T_{L/F}(F_P)$ . Now the result follows from Lemma 5.2.14.

**Corollary 5.2.22.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Assume that  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed. Assume that  $L_i/F, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , are finite Galois extensions of degree  $n_i$ , where  $n_i$  is a natural number coprime to char( $\kappa$ ). Let  $T_{L/F}$  denote the multinorm torus associated to the extensions  $L_i/F$ . Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F such that the union of ram $\mathscr{X}(L_i/F)$  and the reduced special fibre X is a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Let (P, U) be a branch.

Then the natural map

$$T_{L/F}(F_P) \rightarrow T_{L/F}(F_{P,U})/R$$

is surjective.

*Proof.* Since  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed by Lemma 4.4.1, we have:  $T_{L_i/F}(F_{P,U})/R = \langle \rho_{n_i} \rangle$  for all  $i; 1 \leq i \leq m$ , where  $\rho_{n_i}$  is a primitive  $n_i^{\text{th}}$  root of unity in F. Thus the natural maps

$$T_{L_i/F}(F) \to T_{L_i/F}(F_{P,U})/R$$

are surjective for  $1 \leq i \leq m$  since  $\rho_{n_i} \in T_{L_i/F}(F)$ . Thus, the result follows from (5.2.21).

**Theorem 5.2.23.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Assume that  $\kappa$  is algebraically closed. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F such that the union of  $\operatorname{ram}_{\mathscr{X}}(L_i/F)$  and the reduced special fibre X is a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Let  $L_i/F, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , be quadratic cyclic extensions. Assume that  $char(\kappa) \neq 2$ . Let  $T_{L/F}$  denote the multinorm torus associated to the extensions  $L_i/F$ . If the graph associated to F is a tree then  $\coprod_X(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* The result follows from Proposition 5.2.13, Lemma 5.2.16, Lemma 5.2.20, and Corollary 5.2.22.

**Theorem 5.2.24.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  algebraically closed. Let F be the function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K. Let  $L_i/F, 1 \leq i \leq m$ , be quadratic cyclic extensions. Assume that  $char(\kappa) \neq 2$ . Let  $L = \prod_{i=1}^{m} L_i$ . If the graph associated to F is a tree then  $\operatorname{III}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular proper model of F. By [Lip75, p-193], there exists a sequence of blow-ups  $\mathscr{X}_0 \to \mathscr{X}$  centered at closed points of  $\mathscr{X}$  such that the union of  $ram_{\mathscr{X}}(L/F)$  and the reduced special fibre  $X_0$  of  $\mathscr{X}_0$  is a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Now by Theorem 5.1.3, it is enough to show that for any blowup  $\mathscr{Y}$  of  $\mathscr{X}_0$ ,  $\coprod_{\mathscr{Y}}(F, T_{L/F}) = 0$ . Thus the result follows from Theorem 5.2.23.

## Chapter 6

# Examples of failure of local-global principle for norm one tori and multinorm tori over semi-global fields

In this chapter, we give examples of failure of local-global principle for norm one tori (see Corollary 6.0.11) and multinorm tori (see Corollary 6.0.12) over semi-global fields. We again use field patching and *R*-equivalence.

Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field algebraically closed. Colliot-Thélène, Parimala and Suresh ([CTPS16, Section 3.1. & Proposition 5.9.]) constructed a function field of a smooth, projective, geometrically integral curve over K and a Galois extension L/F with Galois group  $\mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z} \times \mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z}$  such that the local-global principle fails for the norm one torus  $T_{L/F}$  associated to L/F. They use higher reciprocity laws to detect nontrivial elements in  $\mathrm{III}(F, T_{L/F})$ . In this section, we produce examples of Galois extensions L/F with Galois group  $\mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z} \times \mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z}$  and using patching techniques, we show that  $\mathrm{III}(F, T_{L/F})$  is nontrivial.

#### Multinorm tori over number fields and semi-global fields:

Let k be a number field and  $L_1, L_2$  be two finite Galois extensions of k. Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$  and let  $T_{L/k}$  be the multinorm torus associated to the extensions  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  over k. If  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are linearly disjoint, then Demarche and Wei ([DW14, Theorem 1]) proved that the local-global principle holds for  $T_{L/k}$ . In this section, we also give an example to show that a similar result does not hold in general for function fields of curves over a complete discretely valued field.

**Proposition 6.0.1.** Let A be a unique factorization domain and F be its fraction field. Let L/F be a finite Galois extension and B be the integral closure of A in L. Suppose that B is a unique factorization domain. Then every element in  $T_{L/F}(F)$  can be written as  $s\theta$  for some  $s \in RT_{L/F}(L)$  and  $\theta \in B$  a unit.

Proof. Let  $\lambda \in T_{L/F}(F)$ . Then  $\lambda \in L^{\times}$  and  $N_{L/F}(\lambda) = 1$ . Since L is the fraction field of B,  $\lambda = \alpha\beta^{-1}$  for some  $\alpha, \beta \in B$ . Since  $N_{L/F}(\lambda) =$ 1,  $N_{L/F}(\alpha) = N_{L/F}(\beta)$ . Let  $p \in B$  be a prime. Since A is a unique factorization domain,  $pB \cap A = qA$  for some prime  $q \in A$  and  $N_{L/F}(p) =$  $vq^r$  for some unit  $v \in A$ . Suppose that p divides  $\alpha$  in B. Then  $N_{L/F}(p)$ divides  $N_{L/F}(\alpha)$  in A and hence q divides  $N_{L/F}(\alpha)$ . Since  $N_{L/F}(\alpha) =$  $N_{L/F}(\beta)$ , there exists a prime  $p' \in B$  such that p' divides  $\beta$  and  $p'B \cap A =$ qA. Since L/F is a Galois extension, there exists  $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(L/F)$  such that  $p = w\sigma(p')$  for some unit  $w \in B$ . Write  $\alpha = p\alpha'$  and  $\beta = p'\beta'$ . Then  $\lambda = \alpha\beta^{-1} = pp'^{-1}\alpha'\beta'^{-1} = \sigma p'p'^{-1}w\alpha'\beta'^{-1}$ . Since B is a unique factorization domain, the proposition follows by induction on the number of prime factors of  $\alpha$  in B.

**Proposition 6.0.2.** Let A be a complete regular local ring of dimension 2 with maximal ideal  $(\pi, \delta)$ , fraction field F and residue field  $\kappa$ . Let n be a positive integer which is coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{\pi}, \sqrt[n]{\delta})$ . Suppose that F contains a primitive  $n^2$ - th root of unity  $\rho$ . Then

$$T_{L/F}(F) = RT_{L/F}(F)\langle \rho \rangle.$$

Proof. Let B be the integral closure of A in L. Then B is a regular local ring of dimension 2 with fraction field L and residue field  $\kappa$  ([PS14, Corollary 3.3.]). Let  $\lambda \in T_{L/F}(F)$ . Then  $\lambda \in L^{\times}$  with  $N_{L/F}(\lambda) = 1$ . Then by Proposition 6.0.1, there exists  $s \in RT_{L/F}(F)$  and a unit  $\theta \in B$  such that  $\lambda = s\theta$ . Since the residue fields of A and B are equal, there exists  $\theta_1 \in A$  such that  $\theta \equiv \theta_1$  modulo the maximal ideal of B. Since n is coprime to char( $\kappa$ ), by Hensel's lemma, we have  $\theta = \theta_1 \alpha^{n^2}$  for some unit  $\alpha \in B$ . Let  $s_1 = N_{L/F}(\alpha)^{-1} \alpha^{n^2} \in L$ . Then by Lemma 2.4.7,  $s_1 \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ . Let  $a = \theta_1 N_{L/F}(\alpha) \in F$ . Then  $\theta = as_1$ . Thus  $\lambda = s\theta = sas_1 = ss_1a$ . Since  $N_{L/F}(\lambda) = 1 = N_{L/F}(s) = N_{L/F}(s_1), 1 = N_{L/F}(a) = a^{n^2}$ . Thus  $a \in \langle \rho \rangle$ . Hence  $\lambda = ss_1a \in RT_{L/F}(F) \langle \rho \rangle$ . **Lemma 6.0.3.** Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and ring of integers R. Let n be a positive integer coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $\pi \in R$  be a parameter and  $u \in R$  a unit with  $[F(\sqrt[n]{u}): F] = n$ . Let  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{u}, \sqrt[n]{\pi})$ . Suppose that F contains a primitive  $n^2$ -th root of unity  $\rho$ . Then  $\rho^t \in RT_{L/F}(F)$  if and only if n divides t.

Proof. Let  $\sigma$  be the automorphism of L/F given by  $\sigma(\sqrt[n]{\pi}) = \rho^n \sqrt[n]{\pi}$  and  $\sigma(\sqrt[n]{u}) = \sqrt[n]{u}$  and  $\tau$  be the automorphism L/F given by  $\tau(\sqrt[n]{u}) = \rho^n \sqrt[n]{u}$  and  $\tau(\sqrt[n]{\pi}) = \sqrt[n]{\pi}$ . Then the Galois group of L/F is an abelian group of order  $n^2$  generated by  $\sigma$  and  $\tau$  and hence  $RT_{L/F}(F)$  is generated by the set  $\{\sigma(a)a^{-1}\tau(b)b^{-1} \mid a, b \in L^{\times}\}$ . Since  $\rho^n = \tau(\sqrt[n]{u})/\sqrt[n]{u} \in RT_{L/F}(F)$ ,  $\rho^{nj} \in RT_{L/F}(F)$  for any integer j.

Conversely, suppose  $\rho^t \in RT_{L/F}(F)$  for some integer t. Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $1 \leq t \leq n^2$ . Then  $\rho^t = a^{-1}\sigma(a)b^{-1}\tau(b)$  for some  $a, b \in L$ . Let  $L' = F(\sqrt[n]{\pi})$ . Since  $\rho \in F$  and  $N_{L/L'}(b^{-1}\tau(b)) = 1$ , we have  $\rho^{nt} = N_{L/L'}(a)^{-1}N_{L/L'}(\sigma(a))$ . Let  $c = N_{L/L'}(a) \in L'$ . Since  $\sigma(c) = \sigma(N_{L/L'}(a)) = N_{L/L'}(\sigma(a))$ , we have  $\sigma(c) = \rho^{nt}c$ . Hence  $\sigma(c^n) = (\sigma(c))^n = (\rho^{nt})^n c^n = c^n$ . Since L'/F is a Galois extension with Galois group generated by  $\sigma$ ,  $c^n \in F$ . Thus  $c = \theta \sqrt[n]{\pi}$  for some integer m and  $\theta \in F$ . Since L/L' is an unramified extension of degree n and c is a norm from L/L', the valuation of c is divisible by n. Since  $\theta \in F$  and  $\sqrt[n]{\pi}$  is a parameter in L', m = nr for some r. Hence  $c \in F$  and  $\rho^{nt} = c^{-1}\sigma(c) = 1$ . Since  $\rho$  is a primitive  $n^2$ -th root of unity, n divides t.

Notation 6.0.4. Let A be a semi-local regular ring of dimension 2 with three maximal ideals  $m_1, m_2, m_3$ . Suppose that there exist three prime elements  $\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3 \in A$  such that  $m_1 = (\pi_2, \pi_3), m_2 = (\pi_1, \pi_3)$  and  $m_3 = (\pi_1, \pi_2)$ . Suppose that  $\pi_i \notin m_i$  for all i. Let  $n \ge 2$  be an integer coprime to  $char(A/m_i)$  for all i. Let F be the fraction field of A. For  $1 \le i \le 3$ , let  $\widehat{A}_{m_i}$  be the completion of A at  $m_i, F_{m_i}$  be the fraction field  $\widehat{A}_{m_i}$  and  $F_{\pi_j}$  be the completion of F at the discrete valuation given by  $\pi_j$ . Let  $1 \le i \ne j, k \le 3$ . Since  $m_i = (\pi_j, \pi_k), \widehat{A}_{m_i}$  is a regular local ring with maximal ideal  $(\pi_j, \pi_k)$ . In particular,  $\pi_j$  gives a discrete valuation on  $F_{m_i}$ which extends the discrete valuation on F given by  $\pi_j$ . Let  $F_{m_i,\pi_j}$  be the completion of  $F_{m_i}$  at the discrete valuation given by  $\pi_j$ . Then  $F_{\pi_j} \subset F_{m_i,\pi_j}$ . Let  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{\pi_1\pi_2}, \sqrt[n]{\pi_2\pi_3})$ . Suppose that F contains  $\rho$ , a primitive  $n^2$ -th root of unity.

Corollary 6.0.5. With notations as in Notation 6.0.4, we have

$$T_{L/F}(F_{m_i}) = RT_{L/F}(F_{m_i})\langle \rho \rangle.$$

Proof. Since  $\pi_2$  is a unit at  $m_2$ , we have  $m_2 A_{m_2} = (\pi_1 \pi_2, \pi_3 \pi_2)$ . Hence, by Proposition 6.0.2, we have  $T_{L/F}(F_{m_2}) = RT_{L/F}(F_{m_2})\langle \rho \rangle$ . Since  $\pi_1$  is a unit at  $m_1, m_1 A_{m_1} = (\pi_1 \pi_2, \pi_1^{-1} \pi_3)$ . Since  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{\pi_1 \pi_2}, \sqrt[n]{\pi_2 \pi_3}) =$  $F(\sqrt[n]{\pi_1 \pi_2}, \sqrt[n]{\pi_1^{-1} \pi_3})$ , by Proposition 6.0.2, we have  $T_{L/F}(F_{m_1}) = RT_{L/F}(F_{m_1})\langle \rho \rangle$ .  $\Box$ 

Corollary 6.0.6. With notations as in Notation 6.0.4, we have

$$T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_i}) = RT_{L/F}(F_{\pi_i})\langle \rho \rangle$$

Proof. Let  $\kappa(\nu_{\pi_i})$  be the residue field of  $F_{\pi_i}$ . The discrete valuation  $\nu_{\pi_i}$  of F given by  $\pi_i$  has unique extension  $\tilde{\nu}_{\pi_i}$  to L. Since F contains a primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity, the residue field  $\kappa(\tilde{\nu}_{\pi_i})$  of L at  $\tilde{\nu}_{\pi_i}$  is a cyclic extension of  $\kappa(\pi)$  of degree n. In particular,  $T_{\kappa(\tilde{\nu}_{\pi_i})/\kappa(\nu_{\pi_i})}(\kappa(\nu_{\pi_i})) = RT_{\kappa(\tilde{\nu}_{\pi_i})/\kappa(\nu_{\pi_i})}(\kappa(\nu_{\pi_i}))$ . Hence, by Lemma 4.1.2,

$$T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_i}) = RT_{L/F}(F_{\pi_i})\langle \rho \rangle.$$

**Corollary 6.0.7.** Let  $F_{m_i,\pi_j}$  be as in Notation 6.0.4. Then  $\rho^t \in RT_{L/F}(F_{m_i,\pi_j})$  if and only if n divides t.

*Proof.* Since the residue field of  $F_{m_i,\pi_j}$  is a complete discretely valued field with the image of  $\pi_k$   $(k \neq i, j)$  as a parameter and the image of  $\pi_i$  as a unit, it is easy to see that  $L \otimes_F F_{m_i,\pi_j} \simeq F_{m_i,\pi_j} (\sqrt[n]{v\pi_j}, \sqrt[n]{u})$  for some units u and v such that  $[F_{m_i,\pi_j}(\sqrt[n]{u}): F_{m_i,\pi_j}] = n$ . Thus, the corollary follows from Lemma 6.0.3.

For each  $1 \leq i \neq j \leq 3$ , we have inclusions fields  $F_{m_i} \to F_{m_i,\pi_j}$  and  $F_{\pi_j} \to F_{m_i,\pi_j}$ . Thus we have the induced homororphisms

$$\alpha_{ij} \colon T_{L/F}(F_{m_i})/R \to T_{L/F}(F_{m_i,\pi_j})/R$$

and

$$\beta_{ji} \colon T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_j})/R \to T_{L/F}(F_{m_i,\pi_j})/R.$$

Lemma 6.0.8. The product map

$$\phi \colon (\prod_{i=1}^{3} T_{L/F}(F_{m_i})/R) \times (\prod_{j=1}^{3} T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_j})/R) \to \prod_{1 \le i \ne j \le 3} (T_{L/F}(F_{m_i,\pi_j})/R)$$

is not surjective.

Proof. Let  $y_{12} = \rho \in T_{L/F}(F_{m_1,\pi_2})$  and  $y_{ij} = 1 \in T_{L/F}(F_{m_i,\pi_j})$  for all  $i \neq j$ and  $(i,j) \neq (1,2)$ . Then we show that  $y = (y_{ij}) \in \prod_{1 \leq i \neq j \leq 3} (T_{L/F}(F_{m_i,\pi_j})/R)$ 

is not in the image of  $\phi$ .

Suppose y is in the image of  $\phi$ . Then there exist  $a_i \in T_{L/F}(F_{m_i})$  and  $b_j \in T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_j})$  such that  $\phi(a_1, a_2, a_3, b_1, b_2, b_3) = y$  modulo R-trivial elements. Then we have  $\alpha_{12}(a_1)\beta_{21}(b_2) = y_{12} = \rho$  modulo R-trivial elements and  $\alpha_{ij}(a_i)\beta_{ji}(b_j) \in RT_{L/F}(F_{m_i,\pi_j})$  for all  $i \neq j$  and  $(i, j) \neq (1, 2)$ . By Corollary 6.0.5 and Corollary 6.0.6, we have  $a_i = c_i\rho^{s_i}$  for some  $c_i \in RT_{L/F}(F_{m_i})$  and  $b_j = d_j\rho^{t_j}$  for some  $d_i \in RT_{L/F}(F_{\pi_j})$ . Hence  $a_i = \rho^{s_i}$  and  $b_j = \rho^{t_j}$  modulo R-trivial elements. Since  $\rho \in F$ ,  $\alpha_{ij}(\rho) = \rho$  and  $\beta_{ji}(\rho) = \rho$  for all  $i \neq j$ . We have  $\rho = y_{12} = \alpha_{12}(a_1)\beta_{21}(b_2) = \rho^{s_1+t_2}$  modulo R-trivial elements. Hence, by Corollary 6.0.7, n divides  $1 - s_1 - t_2$ .

Let  $1 \leq i \neq j \leq 3$  with  $(i, j) \neq (1, 2)$ . Then  $1 = \alpha_{ij}(a_i)\beta_{ji}(b_j) = \rho^{s_i+t_j}$ modulo *R*-trivial elements. Hence  $\rho^{s_i+t_j} \in RT_{L/F}(F_{m_i,\pi_j})$  and by Corollary 6.0.7, *n* divides  $s_i + t_j$ . Since *n* divides  $s_2 + t_1$  and  $s_3 + t_1$ , *n* divides  $s_3 - s_2$ . Since *n* divides  $s_1 + t_3$  and  $s_2 + t_3$ , *n* divides  $s_1 - s_2$ . Hence *n* divides  $s_1 - s_3$ . Since *n* divides  $s_3 + t_2$ , *n* divides  $s_1 + t_2$ , which contradicts the fact that *n* divides  $1 - s_1 - t_2$ .

**Theorem 6.0.9.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and ring of integers R. Let  $\mathscr{X}$  be a regular integral surface proper over R and F be its fraction field. Let X denote the reduced special fibre of  $\mathscr{X}$ . Suppose that X is a union of regular curves with normal crossings. Suppose that there exist three three irreducible curves  $X_1$ ,  $X_2$  and  $X_3$ regular on  $\mathscr{X}$  such that  $X_i \cap X_j$ ,  $i \neq j$  has exactly one closed point. Let  $n \geq 2$  be an integer coprime to char( $\kappa$ ). Suppose that K has a primitive  $n^2$ -th root of unity. Then there exists a Galois extension L/F of degree  $n^2$ with Galois group isomorphic to  $\mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z} \times \mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z}$  such that the local-global principle fails for  $T_{L/F}$ .

Proof. Let  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$  and  $P_3$  be the points of  $X_i \cap X_j$ ,  $i \neq j$ . Let A be the semi local ring at  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$  and  $P_3$  on  $\mathscr{X}$ . Then A has three maximal ideals  $m_1, m_2$  and  $m_3$ . Since  $\mathscr{X}$  is regular and each  $X_i$  is regular on  $\mathscr{X}$ , there exist primes  $\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3 \in A$  such that  $m_i = (\pi_j, \pi_k)$  for all distinct i, j, k. Let  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{\pi_1 \pi_2}, \sqrt[n]{\pi_2 \pi_3})$ . Since K contains primitive  $n^{\text{th}}$  root of unity, L/F is a Galois extension with Galois group isomorphic to  $\mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z} \times \mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z}$ . We claim that the local-global principle fails for  $T_{L/F}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a finite set of closed points of X containing all the singular points of X. Let  $X \setminus \mathcal{P} = \bigcup U_i$ , with  $U_i \subset X_i$  for i = 1, 2, 3. By [HHK15a, Corollary 3.6.], it is enough to show that the product map

$$\prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} T_{L/F}(F_P) \times \prod_i T_{L/F}(F_{U_i}) \to \prod_{P,U_i} T_{L/F}(F_{P,U_i})$$

is not surjective. Since  $X_1, X_2, X_3$  are the only curves in X passing through  $P_1, P_2$  or  $P_3$ , it is enough to show that

$$\phi \colon \prod_{i=1}^{3} T_{L/F}(F_{P_i}) \times \prod_{j=1}^{3} T_{L/F}(F_{U_j}) \to \prod_{P_i, U_j} T_{L/F}(F_{P_i, U_j})$$

is not surjective. Since  $F_{U_j} \subset F_{\pi_j}$  and  $F_{P_i,U_j} = F_{P_i,\pi_j}$ ,  $\phi$  factors as

$$\prod_{i=1}^{3} T_{L/F}(F_{P_i}) \times \prod_{j=1}^{3} T_{L/F}(F_{U_j}) \to \prod_{i=1}^{3} T_{L/F}(F_{P_i}) \times \prod_{j=1}^{3} T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_j}) \to \prod_{P_i, \pi_j} T_{L/F}(F_{P_i, \pi_j}).$$

Since, by Lemma 6.0.8,

$$\prod_{i=1}^{3} (T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_i})/R) \times \prod_{j=1}^{3} (T_{L/F}(F_{P_j})/R) \to \prod_{U_i, P_j} (T_{L/F}(F_{P_i, U_j})/R)$$

is not surjective,  $\phi$  is not surjective.

*Remark* 6.0.10. The above theorem for  $\kappa$  algebraically closed and n = 2 is proved by Colliot-Thélène, Parimala and Suresh ([CTPS16, Section 3.1. & Corollary 6.2.]).

**Corollary 6.0.11.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and ring of integers R. Let  $t \in R$  be a parameter. Let  $\mathscr{X} =$  $Proj(R[x, y, z]/\langle xy(x + y - z) - tz^3 \rangle)$ . Let X be the special fibre of  $\mathscr{X}$ . Then  $X = Proj(\kappa[x, y, z]/\langle xy(x + y - z) \rangle)$  which is reduced. Then X has three irreducible components  $X_1, X_2, X_3$  and  $X_i$  intersects  $X_j, i \neq j$ at exactly one point. Let F be the function field of  $\mathscr{X}$ . Then  $F \simeq$  $K(x)[y]/\langle xy(x+y-1)-t \rangle$ . Let  $n \geq 2$  be coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Suppose that K contains a primitive  $n^2$ -th root of unity. Let  $L = F(\sqrt[n]{xy}, \sqrt[n]{y(x-1)})$ . Then L/F is a Galois extension with Galois group isomorphic to  $\mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z} \times$  $\mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z}$ . By Theorem 6.0.9, the local-global principle for fails for  $T_{L/F}$ . Proof. Let  $U = \operatorname{Spec} (R[x, y]/\langle xy(x + y - 1) - t \rangle)$ . Then U is an affine open subset of  $\mathscr{X}$ . Let  $P_1 = (1, 0)$ ,  $P_2 = (0, 1)$  and  $P_3 = (0, 0)$  be the three closed points of U. Let A be the semi local ring at  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$  and  $P_3$  and let  $m_i$  be the maximal ideal of A corresponding to  $P_i$ . Then  $m_1 = (x + y - 1, y), m_2 = (x, x + y - 1)$  and  $m_3 = (x, y)$ . Hence, by Theorem 6.0.9, the local-global principle fails for  $T_{L/F}$ .

**Corollary 6.0.12.** Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field  $\kappa$  and ring of integers R. Let  $t \in R$  be a parameter. Let  $\mathscr{X} =$  $Proj(R[x, y, z]/\langle xy(x + y - z)(x - 2z) - tz^4 \rangle)$  and F be the function field of  $\mathscr{X}$ . Then  $F \simeq K(x)[y]/\langle xy(x + y - 1)(x - 2) - t \rangle$ . Let  $\theta_1 = (x -$ 2)/(x - 2 + xy(x + y - 1)) and  $\theta_2 = (y - 2)/(y - 2 + xy(x + y - 1))$ . Let  $n \ge 2$  with 6n coprime to  $char(\kappa)$ . Let  $L_1 = F(\sqrt[n]{xy}, \sqrt[n]{y(x + y - 1)})$ and  $L_2 = F(\sqrt[n]{xy\theta_1}, \sqrt[n]{y(x + y - 1)\theta_2})$ . Then  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are finite Galois extensions of F that are linearly disjoint. Let  $L = L_1 \times L_2$ . Then the local-global principle fails for the multinorm torus  $T_{L/F}$ .

*Proof.* To show that the local-global principle fails for  $T_{L/F}$ , by [HHK09, Theorem 3.6.] and as in the proof of Theorem 6.0.9, it is enough to show that

$$\phi \colon \prod_{i=1}^{3} (T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_i})/R) \times \prod_{j=1}^{3} (T_{L/F}(F_{P_j})/R) \to \prod_{U_i, P_j} (T_{L/F}(F_{P_i, U_j})/R)$$

is not surjective.

Let  $U = \operatorname{Spec} (R[x, y]/\langle xy(x + y - 1)(x - 2) - t \rangle)$ . Then U is an affine open subset of  $\mathscr{X}$ . Let  $P_1 = (1, 0), P_2 = (0, 1), P_3 = (0, 0)$  and Q = (2, 2). Let A be the semi local ring at  $P_1, P_2, P_3$  and Q. Let  $m_i$  be the maximal ideals of A corresponding to  $P_i$  and m be the maximal ideal corresponding to Q. Let  $\pi_1 = x, \pi_2 = y$  and  $\pi_3 = x + y - 1$ . Then  $m_1 = (\pi_2, \pi_3),$  $m_2 = (\pi_1, \pi_3), m_3 = (\pi_1, \pi_2)$ . We also have m = (x - 2, y - 2). Since  $2 \neq \operatorname{char}(\kappa), x - 2$  and y - 2 are units at  $m_i$  and  $\theta_i = 1$  modulo  $m_j$  and  $\pi_j$ . Since n is coprime to  $\operatorname{char}(\kappa), \theta_i \in F_{P_i}^n$  and  $\theta_i \in F_{\pi_j}^n$  for all i and j. Hence  $L_1 \otimes_F F_{\pi_i} \simeq L_2 \otimes_F F_{\pi_i}$  and  $L_1 \otimes_F F_{P_j} \simeq L_2 \otimes_F F_{P_j}$ . By Proposition 2.4.3, we have  $T_{L/F}(F_{\pi_i})/R \simeq T_{L_1/F}(F_{\pi_i})/R, T_{L/F}(F_{P_j})/R \simeq T_{L_1/F}(F_{P_j})/R$  and  $T_{L/F}(F_{U_i,P_j})/R \simeq T_{L_1/F}(F_{U_i,P_j})/R$ . Since, by Lemma 6.0.8,

$$\prod_{i=1}^{3} (T_{L_1/F}(F_{\pi_i})/R) \times \prod_{j=1}^{3} (T_{L_1/F}(F_{P_j})/R) \to \prod_{U_i, P_j} (T_{L_1/F}(F_{P_i, U_j})/R)$$

is not surjective,  $\phi$  is not surjective. Hence the local-global principle fails for  $T_{L/F}$ .

Since  $\pi_1\pi_2 = xy = 4 \mod n$  and  $\pi_2\pi_3 = 6 \mod n$ , we have  $L_1 \otimes_F F_Q = F_Q(\sqrt[n]{4}, \sqrt[n]{6})$ . Since 6n is coprime to  $\operatorname{char}(\kappa)$ ,  $L_1 \otimes_F F_Q/F_Q$  is unramified. Since  $xy(x+y-1) = 12 \mod n$ ,  $x-2+xy(x+y-1) = 12a^n$  for some  $a \in F_Q$ . Similarly,  $y-2+xy(x+y+1) = 12b^n$  for some  $b \in F_Q$ . Hence  $L_2 \otimes_F F_Q = F_Q(\sqrt[n]{(x-2)/3}, \sqrt[n]{(y-2)/2})$ . Since the maximal ideal m = (x-2, y-2) and 3, 2 are units at  $m, L_1 \otimes_F F_Q$  and  $L_2 \otimes_F F_Q$  are linearly disjoint over  $F_Q$ . In particular,  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are linearly disjoint over F.

## Bibliography

- [Alb39] Abraham Adrian Albert, Structure of algebras, vol. 24, American Mathematical Soc., 1939.
- [Art69] Michael F Artin, Algebraic approximation of structures over complete local rings, Publications Mathématiques de l'IHÉS **36** (1969), 23–58.
- [BFLP19] Eva Bayer-Fluckiger, T-Y Lee, and Raman Parimala, Hasse principles for multinorm equations, Advances in Mathematics **356** (2019), 106818.
- [CF67] John William Scott Cassels and Albrecht Frölich, Algebraic number theory: proceedings of an instructional conference, Academic Pr, 1967.
- [CT14] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène, Groupe de brauer non ramifié d'espaces homogenes de tores, Journal de théorie des nombres de Bordeaux 26 (2014), no. 1, 69–83.
- [CTHH<sup>+</sup>19] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène, David Harbater, Julia Hartmann, Daniel Krashen, R Parimala, and V Suresh, Localglobal principles for tori over arithmetic curves, arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.10672 (2019).
- [CTPS08] J-L Colliot-Thélene, Raman Parimala, and Venapally Suresh, Patching and local-global principles for homogeneous spaces over function fields of p-adic curves, arXiv preprint arXiv:0812.3099 (2008).
- [CTPS16] J-L Colliot-Thélène, Raman Parimala, and Venapally Suresh, Lois de réciprocité supérieures et points rationnels, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society **368** (2016), no. 6, 4219–4255.
- [CTS77] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène and Jean-Jacques Sansuc, La r-équivalence sur les tores, Annales scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, vol. 10, 1977, pp. 175–229.

[CTS87]	, Principal homogeneous spaces under flasque tori: applications, Journal of algebra <b>106</b> (1987), no. 1, 148–205.
[DW14]	Cyril Demarche and Dasheng Wei, Hasse principle and weak approximation for multinorm equations, Israel Journal of Mathematics <b>202</b> (2014), no. 1, 275–293.
[Gil04]	<i>Philippe Gille</i> , Spécialisation de la r-équivalence pour les groupes réductifs, <i>Transactions of the American Mathematical Society</i> <b>356</b> (2004), no. 11, 4465–4474.
[Gil10]	P Gille, Lectures on r-equivalence on linear algebraic groups, online lecture notes, http://math.univ-lyon1.fr/ homes-www/gille/prenotes/grenoble.pdf (2010).
[GS06]	Philippe Gille and Tamás Szamuely, Central simple alge- bras and galois cohomology, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, 2006.
[HHK09]	David Harbater, Julia Hartmann, and Daniel Krashen, Applications of patching to quadratic forms and central simple algebras, Inventiones mathematicae <b>178</b> (2009), no. 2, 231–263.
[HHK14]	, Local-global principles for galois cohomology, Com- mentarii Mathematici Helvetici <b>89</b> (2014), no. 1, 215–253.
[HHK15a]	, Local-global principles for torsors over arithmetic curves, American Journal of Mathematics <b>137</b> (2015), no. 6, 1559–1612.
[HHK15b]	, Refinements to patching and applications to field invariants, International Mathematics Research Notices <b>2015</b> (2015), no. 20, 10399–10450.
[Hu12]	Yong Hu, Hasse principle for simply connected groups over function fields of surfaces, arXiv preprint, arXiv:1203.1075 (2012).
[Hum75]	J. E. Humphreys, Linear algebraic groups, Springer, 1975.
[Hür84]	Werner Hürlimann, On algebraic tori of norm type, Com- mentarii Mathematici Helvetici <b>59</b> (1984), no. 1, 539–549.
[Lin75]	Locanh Limman Introduction to resolution of singularities

[Lip75] Joseph Lipman, Introduction to resolution of singularities, Proc. Symp. Pure Math, vol. 29, 1975, pp. 187–230.

- [Mil] James S Milne, Algebraic number theory.
- [Mil17] \_\_\_\_\_, Algebraic groups: the theory of group schemes of finite type over a field, vol. 170, Cambridge University Press, 2017.
- [Mis19] Sumit Chandra Mishra, Local-global principle for norm one tori, arXiv preprint arXiv:1904.00966 (2019).
- [MT11] Gunter Malle and Donna Testerman, Linear algebraic groups and finite groups of lie type, vol. 133, Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- [Pol14] Timothy P Pollio, On the multinorm principle for finite abelian extensions, Pure and Applied Mathematics Quarterly **10** (2014), no. 3, 547–566.
- [PPS18] R Parimala, R Preeti, and V Suresh, Local–global principle for reduced norms over function fields of p-adic curves, Compositio Mathematica **154** (2018), no. 2, 410–458.
- [PR08] Gopal Prasad and Andrei S Rapinchuk, Local-global principles for embedding of fields with involution into simple algebras with involution, arXiv preprint arXiv:0806.0596 (2008).
- [PR12] Timothy P Pollio and Andrei S Rapinchuk, The multinorm principle for linearly disjoint galois extensions, arXiv preprint arXiv:1203.0359 (2012).
- [Pre13] R Preeti, Classification theorems for hermitian forms, the rost kernel and hasse principle over fields with cd2( k )  $\leq$  3, Journal of Algebra **385** (2013), 294–313.
- [PRR93] Vladimir Platonov, Andrei Rapinchuk, and Rachel Rowen, Algebraic groups and number theory, Academic press, 1993.
- [PS14] R Parimala and V Suresh, Period-index and u-invariant questions for function fields over complete discretely valued fields, Inventiones mathematicae **197** (2014), no. 1, 215–235.
- [San81] J-J Sansuc, Groupe de brauer et arithmétique des groupes algébriques linéaires sur un corps de nombres., Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik **327** (1981), 12–80.
- [Ser97] Jean-Pierre Serre, Galois cohomology, Springer, 1997.

[Sza06] Tamás Szamuely, Lectures on linear algebraic groups, online lecture notes, http://pagine.dm.unipi.it/ tamas/lag.pdf (2006).